








February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 1 of 27

CITY OF ELKO
PLANNING COMMISSION

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
5:30 P.M., P.S.T., TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 5, 2019

ELKO CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS,
1751 COLLEGE AVENUE, ELKO, NEVADA

CALL TO ORDER

Jeff Dalling, Chairman of the City of Elko Planning Commission, called the meeting to order at
5:30 p.m.

ROLL CALL

Present: Evi Buell
Ian Montgomery
Jeff Dalling
John Anderson
Stefan Beck
Tera Hooiman

Absent: Vacant

City Staff Present: Scott Wilkinson, Assistant City Manager
Cathy Laughlin, City Planner
Shelby Archuleta, Planning Technician

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC

There were no public comments made at this time.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

January 3, 2019 – Special Meeting FOR POSSIBLE ACTION

***Motion: Approve the minutes from January 3, 2019.

Moved by Tera Hooiman, Seconded by Evi Buell.

*Motion passed unanimously. (6-0)

I. NEW BUSINESS

A. PUBLIC HEARING



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 2 of 27

1. Review, consideration, and possible recommendation to City Council for Rezone
No. 1-19, filed by Defty Family Trust, for a change in zoning from AG (General
Agriculture) to IC (Industrial Commercial) zoning district, approximately 27.605
acres of property, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION

The subject property is located generally on the northwest side of W. Idaho Street,
approximately 1,376’ northeast of I-80 Exit 298. (APN 001-679-012).

Cathy Laughlin, City Planner, went through the City of Elko Staff Report dated January 17,
2019. Staff recommended approval with the findings in the Staff Report.

John Holmes, Fire Marshal had no concerns.

Scott Wilkinson, Assistant City Manager, recommended approval as presented by staff.

***Motion: Forward a recommendation to City Council to adopt a resolution, which
approves Rezone No. 1-19.

Commissioner Buell’s findings to support the recommendation was the proposed rezone is
in conformance with the Master Plan Land Use Component. The proposed rezone is
compatible with the Master Plan Transportation Component and is consistent with the
existing transportation infrastructure. The proposed rezone is in conformance with the
City of Elko Airport Master Plan. The proposed rezone is consistent with the City of Elko
Wellhead Protection Plan. The proposed rezone is consistent with Elko City Code 3-2-4(B)
& (C). The proposed rezone is in conformance with Section 3-2-11(B) IC – Industrial
Commercial Zoning District. The proposed rezone is consistent with Elko City Code 3-2-17.
Development under the proposed rezone will not adversely impact natural systems, or
public/federal lands such as waterways, wetlands, drainages, floodplains etc. or pose a
danger to human health and safety.

Moved by Evi Buell, Seconded by Stefan Beck.

*Motion passed unanimously. (6-0)

2. Review, consideration, and possible action of Conditional Use Permit No. 1-19, filed
by Sundance Mini Storage, LP, which would allow for a mini storage facility,
recreational vehicle storage, and U-Haul rental and storage within a C (General
Commercial) Zoning District, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE
ACTION

The subject property is located generally southwest of the intersection of Mountain
City Highway and Sundance Drive (APN 001-01E-039 & APN 001-01E-040).

Andrew Knudsen, 5013 W Bullion Road, explained that they had applied for a CUP. They have
worked close with the staff on this for the last couple years, and are continuing to work with staff
to make sure they meet all the conditions. They still have conditions to satisfy, because they are
still in the construction stage, and they are continuing to work on those until they are all satisfied.



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 3 of 27

One of the conditions to still be satisfied is the sidewalk was installed on the property, so they
have to create an easement for the sidewalk. That has been drawn up on the new plot map.
Another condition is lighting. The lighting that was installed was approved. Unfortunately, there
were some complaints on the lighting, so they had to go back to staff and see what they could do.
They are working on that condition and it will be satisfied. He thanked staff. Also there are
letters that neighbors have written that approve and are inviting the improvements of the ground.
They were also able to contact 15 others out of those that were noticed and they had no
complaints.

Ms. Laughlin went over the City of Elko Staff Report dated January 18, 2019. The Applicant has
requested to include vehicular storage as well. Ms. Laughlin wanted to talk about the previous
Conditional Use Permit, and its 32 conditions, of which were met. Some have been satisfied and
some were included in the staff memo with some minor modifications. Some of the conditions
were repetitive. Going through the previous conditions of the Development Department, all of
those conditions have been generally satisfied. There are a few things that they are still working
on until the property gets completed, such as the lighting and the landscaping. The Engineering
Department conditions have also been satisfied, with the exception of the pedestrian access
easement, so that was added to the new CUP. The Public Works condition was a City Code and
not an actual condition. The Utilities Department condition was a City Code as well. Under the
previous Fire Department conditions, most of those were Fire Code related, and they would not
be conditions. A condition is something above and beyond what code requires. There are a few
Fire Department Conditions listed in the new memo. She wanted to discuss the last couple of
bullet points from the previous memo. The first one was the full perimeter of the property be
landscaped, and the second one being landscaping to Code. Those are possible conflicts. We
require in the Commercial Zoning District that the landscaping to comply with Code. Staff felt
those two were conflicting. Staff has added a condition in regards to the landscaping, but they
did not add those specific previous conditions. Number 3, the buildings to be of earth toned color
pallet, which has been completed. The wrought iron fencing is also done. Elevations and
landscape plan be approved by staff before the CUP is finalized. That is one condition that there
won’t be any elevations for the building permit for the new development of this property.  He
will be doing a site improvement permit, which will show the grading, base, and fencing. There
won’t be any new buildings there, so elevations would not be required. If you wanted to require
the landscape plan be reviewed by staff that would normally be done with the permitting process.
That condition was not included in the new CUP. Staff recommended approval. There are a few
minor modifications to the conditions from what was included in the staff report. Those are listed
as follows:

1. The permit is granted to the applicant Sundance Mini Storage, LP allowing for the
development of commercial storage units, recreation vehicle storage, vehicular storage,
and U-Haul rentals and storage. Prohibition of storage of construction equipment and
material after completion of the project.

2. The permit shall be personal to the permittee and applicable only to the specific use and
to the specific property for which it is issued. However, the Planning Commission may
approve the transfer of the conditional use permit to another owner. Upon issuance of an
occupancy permit for the conditional use, signifying that all zoning and site development
requirements imposed in connection with the permit have been satisfied, the conditional
use permit shall thereafter be transferable and shall run with the land, whereupon the
maintenance or special conditions imposed by the permit, as well as compliance with
other provisions of the zoning district, shall be the responsibility of the property owner.



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 4 of 27

3. The conditional use permit shall automatically lapse and be of no effect one year from the
date of its issue unless the permit holder is actively engaged in developing the specific
property in use for which the permit was issued.

4. CUP 1-19 to be recorded with the Elko County Recorder within 90 days after the
commencement of the expansion to the current facility.

5. A landscaping plan is required. All landscaping required by Elko City Code shall be
maintained in a manner acceptable to the City of Elko at all times by the property owner.

6. The development of curb, gutter and sidewalk along Mountain City Highway is hindered
by a pet cemetery located in NDOT right of way. A 5’ wide sidewalk shall be installed in
a pedestrian easement along the Mountain City Highway frontage. The property owner
will be required to request a waiver for curb and gutter along Mountain City Highway
based on the information provided by NDOT.

7. Lighting of the property shall be cut-off shielded lighting and directed away from the
residential properties. Site lighting complying with 3-2-17 shall be presented to meet the
code furthest away from the residential properties.

8. Access to the property shall be limited to Sundance Drive as shown on the plans.
9. A screen-wall or fencing is required unless determined otherwise by the Planning

Commission. This condition is to be clarified by the Planning Commission on the type of
screen wall or fencing that is necessary and acceptable.

10. BLA 1-19 be approved and recorded at the Elko County Recorder’s office.
11. Expanded area to have an all-weather surface such as base with a minimum of 6” deep in

all areas outside of designated fire department access areas.

Mr. Holmes said he wanted to strike Condition No. 2 listed under the Fire Department
Conditions. There is concern that if we keep going with this parcel that they will not have a
secondary access, but that can be addressed later. He then listed his other conditions that were
included in the staff report. 1. IFC D102.1 Access and Loading: Facilities, buildings or portions
of buildings hereafter constructed shall be accessible to fire department apparatus by way of an
approved fire apparatus access road with asphalt, concrete or other approved driving surface
capable of supporting the imposed load of fire apparatus weighing at least 75,000 pounds. 2. IFC
Appendix C - Fire Hydrants need to be shown on plan review and needed for new area proposed.

Chairman Jeff Dalling asked if the proposed development was going to be asphalt and striped.

Ms. Laughlin said no, it would be a road base.

Chairman Dalling asked if that could carry the 75,000 pounds.

Ms. Laughlin explained that the applicant would have to prove that in their design.

Mr. Wilkinson recommended approval as presented by staff. He wanted Ms. Laughlin to further
clarify Condition No. 7 on what the intent is there. She can discuss the Code requirements and
we can shift the lights away from the residential property. They will need to show a plan, so they
meet the minimum lighting standard. On the residential property line Ms. Laughlin can discuss
that. The intent of that condition will be met. He thought the Planning Commission should
consider the wrought iron fencing to be extended on the proposed expansion area on the NDOT
right-of-way. We’ve talked about what type of screening might be required on the south and west



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 5 of 27

property lines. On the south line, the screen fencing needs to be connected to the existing
building.

Ms. Laughlin explained City Code Section 3-2-17 requires that all parking areas are lit, and that
80% of that area needs to meet a certain minimum requirement of .25 candle foot. In that
condition stating that staff would like that lighting away from the residential properties, and that,
if presented to meet the Code, staff would like the 80% of the additional parcel area to be met
along Mountain City Highway. The area along the residential properties could have 0 candle foot
lit on the photometric design. Twenty percent can be zero light and eighty percent needs to meet
that minimum candle foot, so the City would require that to be along Mountain City Highway.

David Sirotek, 1530 Tamarack Rd, read the following letter into the record.
The City Planner was expecting an updated map yesterday that would show the

applicant’s proposal for a screen wall between our fence and his interests, as required by the
City, but the City didn’t have it as of yesterday afternoon, so we haven’t seen it. Our
observations and assumptions are based on the plot map in the City packet.

Upon receipt of notice for this public hearing, my initial reaction was negative. Our
family and the use of our home and property has been severely impacted by the applicant’s
previous mini storage facility construction, including a broken new vinyl fence, a very large
trench IN our driveway, routinely clogged air intake vents, interior plaster crack from the
contractor’s use of an industrial compactor on high setting, contractors barking at our dogs, etc.
It has been difficult One complaint by us, regarding the side driveway trench, resulted in a
former City employee sending US an order to stay off Andrew’s property. We weren’t on it. We
didn’t need to be, because the trench was literally in our driveway. We realize that the City has a
right to utilize the setback but not a private contractor. I had to stop my children from playing in
our yard while a very large truck brought a torn-down Arby’s sign and crushed in right next to
our yard. So many issues were prevalent. Naturally, I was defensive regarding a new project.
Upon reflection and consideration, I looked at the plot map and packet the City posted for this
latest CUP, and gave critical thought to what truly impacts us and what I can reasonably request
as a condition of the Conditional Use Permit (CUP) and of the builder as a “neighbor.” My
husband and I went to the City Planner for assistance in navigating the documentation. We
consulted an attorney who specializes in mixed use issues to determine typical equitable
solutions to conflicting interests in mixed use areas, to ensure that we don’t waste time or energy
requesting anything unreasonable or unrealistic.

We did notice that the CUP application stated, on line 2, that the proposed use would be
“mini storage.” NO mention was made of RV storage and a U-Haul business on the undeveloped
parcel. The City Staff Report introduction also only listed as “storage units” on the cover page.
Zoning for RV storage and a U-Haul business are expressly stated as a permitted GI LI
Industrial in Elko City Code 3-2-12. Because the property behind our home is Commercial, we
were concerned that the use would bypass zoning conformity. This is the point at which we spoke
at length with the City Planner, Cathy Laughlin. She assured us that this use is allowed as a
conditional use under General Commercial, even though it is an expressly permitted use under
Industrial zoning, and that other businesses of the same type are zoned Commercial. She then
explained that even though the two parcels are currently separate, a Boundary Line Adjustment
is being requested to combine the two. We forgot to ask her why Mr. Knudsen’s application
stated only mini storage use as his property use and the Staff Report did the same, but we aren’t
sure it even matters. The three uses are included. The mini storage is currently on a separate
parcel and under another CUP. The undeveloped parcel will house the RV storage and U-Haul



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 6 of 27

storage and rentals, if approved. Ms. Laughlin stated that all of the conditions of the first CUP
would apply to the one covered today, but that we can request additional conditions be imposed
by the Planning Commission. This brings us to our requests for conditions that we hope will
protect us from home devaluation, light trespass, noise, excessive dust, and commercial to
residential conflicts. We hope to contribute to equitable solutions.

U-Haul Business: Referring to the map, we think the builder has done a good job
lessening impacts on residents by placing the U-Haul business in the corner further away from
homes. We had been concerned about noxious exhaust fumes inhibiting us from using our yards
for entertainment. We ask that a condition be included in the CUP to ensure that placement on
the property. The view from Mountain City Highway and Cattle Drive don’t concern us. That is
up to Andrew and appears to us to be a good plan along the highway. Our concern is what we
see from our property.
Landscaping, screen wall, and lighting, particularly aiming to protect property value and us,

are our family’s top priorities.
Screen Wall: The map posted by the City and that Cathy showed us yesterday, does not

show a screen wall between the business activities and our properties, but she stated is required
by code, due to the abutment between Commercial and Residential. She clarified that the City
stipulates a “wall that ensures that it can’t be seen “from without,” in this case from residential
homes and yards. We do have concerns about accessing our fence in the event it needs repair. In
a residential neighborhood with homes backing homes, we could ask a neighbor to assist or
allow access via his property. With commercial abutment and the required screen wall, which we
definitely want, too close a proximity between the two renders that impossible. We assume a gap
will allow the business owner access between the screen and our fence.

With the latitude allotted to the Planning Commissioners in terms of screen walls and
landscaping, we are hoping for a solution that mitigates the devaluation of our homes, provides
protection from unsightly views from our windows, porch, and yard, prevents residential
property damage, and allows a reasonable distance buffer to prevent weeds from encroachments
into yards and from entrapment between our fence and the commercial wall. We would
personally like to see an elevated landscape buffer with dense evergreen trees and other
vegetation, combined with a structural wall, similar to what is seen at Rabbitbrush Apartments.
This could even be combined with a lowered elevation for the RV pads.

We have seen elevated landscape berms with dense evergreens alone, with walls, and a
combination of both in this city and others. We have seen distance buffers with both the berm
and walls, or with only one of the two. We have seen less sightly options, and sincerely hope
those aren’t even considered. This provision of the development can make the difference in
alleviating impacts on all involved. We ask that the commission provide details in the motion
that will ensure that those details are on the CUP.

Landscaping: During the previous CUP hearing the Assistant City Manager noted
specifically that trees would provide the best buffer for sound, and we note that it also assists
with controlling light trespass and views of property that does not conform to or complement the
residential feel of a neighborhood. The easement next to our house was discussed extensively in
the first CUP hearing, with talk of trees and bushes. The builder then place the sewer pipe a few
feet from the property line between us, and the City later said he could not place trees. The
intent of the term “landscaping” was clear, but specifics were not included in the CUP. We
ask that these details be included in the motion and included in the CUP. Vegetative options do
exist, which have large growth habit and shallow root systems. This condition did not need to be
negated. Even large bushes would help block the glare from the shiny top of the storage building
that prevents us from leaving blinds open in our family room. We ask that a condition for



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 7 of 27

landscaping stipulate trees and large bushes (i.e. Ninebark, Dogwood, lilac, apricot trees, etc.).
Landscaping that includes trees within the business property and between residential and
commercial would comply with the “seen from without” clause clarified in code by the City
Planner. Details are so helpful. We believe strategic landscaping would minimize negative
impacts on our property, while enhancing Mr. Knudsen’s property. On a side not, the shade
offered by trees would be attractive to RV owners seeking storage options.

Modifying our yard: We will contribute to our own needs as well, by modifying our
existing landscaping as much as we can. Some is prohibitive, due to setbacks and other
limitations. The existing Septic prevents some options. We have extensive landscaping of our
own, with underground irrigation and vegetation, which has been completed for years.
Combining additional evergreen trees on our side and others on his would certainly create a
multi-layered view improvement that could help preserve our property value. We live in a
neighborhood of high value homes that would experience an extremely negative impact with the
addition of an unattractive view that outweighs the same placement in an area of lower property
values. Buyers at this price point are savvy and have more options, such as building, remodeling,
or buying another home, than those buying lower cost homes abutting the same commercial
property which means fewer buyers and decreased likelihood of expected home value inflation.
These buyers would expect not to have a view of RVs through windows, on the porch, or in the
yard. We are this buyer type, and we value trees to create a visual buffer.

Commercial zoning doesn’t normally require a setback, but a commercial property
directly abutting residential yards isn’t typical. That is made obvious by the need for a
conditional use permit. This development is in the realm of mixed use, which many communities
maintain with dense tree screens (most a combination of evergreen and deciduous) on elevated
land berms on the commercial property side. Such a combination would be visually appealing to
both the commercial and residential properties.

Lighting: The mini storage property currently is utilizing lighting fixtures that are not
cutoff, shielded lighting as specified in the existing CUP (8-15). While the placement of some
fixtures will be changed upon completion of the final building (along Mountain City Highway),
the lack of cutoff, shielded lighting will continue to create light trespass, which have been
experiencing, as have other neighboring homes. The placement of the lights will certainly also be
important to prevent light trespass, because placement directly across from the end of another
building will cause the light to bounce. The lights being used are extremely bright. The wrought
iron section across from our driveway also allows light trespass, and may even do so with cutoff,
shielded fixtures, because there is no building, screen wall, or evergreen vegetation blocking the
light entering our children’s bedrooms and yard. Headlights are not helping the matter.
Mounting the light fixtures at a lower level may help. As far as security, the lighting would still
serve the business well. We request additional emphasis on the need for legitimate cutoff,
shielded lighting fixtures, a lower placement on buildings, and some sort of shielding of light
trespass in the first rows of the mini storage facility. Can the lighting fixtures be placed toward
blacktop to prevent light bouncing off the facing building ends? We also request evergreen
screening or wall in the current wrought iron area near the cul-de-sac. There is a fire hydrant
there, so we assume evergreen trees/bushes with enough height to use to block light would be
more appropriate, cost less and would reduce weeds.

For the parcel that is currently undeveloped and slated for outdoor storage, we would
like to see a condition for fully shielded, cutoff lighting, placed no higher than 3 ½ feet off the
RV pad surfaces, in the RV and U-Haul areas, but please consider that even directional lights
cause light pollution. Please stipulate directional lighting in a minimum quantity, that will
prevent light trespass on our property. The central areas and Mountain City Highway areas of



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 8 of 27

the RV property should not be shining in our windows, either, and our perspective is that
substantial numbers of lighting fixtures should not be necessary if the applicant maintains
standard, daytime business hours and have a locking entrance. We request a condition for
standard, daytime hours, like that of other similar businesses in the area. Most are open until
5, but reasonable similar to that would help minimize traffic impacts on neighbors.

Unpermitted Uses: The properties (two, because the boundary line adjustment has not
yet divided the parcel) are currently being used to store light vehicles, heavy equipment, a sewer
sludge tank, and construction garbage. Cathy Laughlin stated that this issue will be resolved. No
light vehicle storage is listed for storage under the CUP. Specific reference to this as a
condition would be optimal. No reference is made to heavy equipment use on the commercial
property, but we are definitely impacted by the use of a backhoe for snow removal. It emits fumes
from the diesel fuel, is loud, and is visually unattractive from our perspective. Heavy equipment
storage is not requested as a condition of the CUP and storage like that is industrial. We assume
it will not be used after the development is completed. Cathy indicated that the storage of such
units is not allowed and is being resolved. We would appreciate clarification on what is planned
snow removal and moving recreational vehicles.

We are only asking for these conditions and considerations to assist with protecting
property value, family, quality of life, and to maintain reasonable, typical use of our properties.
We understand that Mr. Knudsen is trying to create a business and earn a living. The difference
is that he can go home. We live here. We want to be able to entertain family and friends in our
home and yard, host birthday parties for our children, enjoy extended living on our porch and
get adequate sleep at night. Using a single, secured entrance should help limit light trespass, due
to not needing a street light on Mountain City Highway. We appreciate this aspect of the design
plan. We also give nod to the placement of the U-Haul area in the area furthest in distance from
residential properties, but seek to add that to conditions. Please consider our requests for
conditions and discussion. The final request is in reference to the existing CUP. Cathy assured
us that all conditions of the CUP will apply to the new one, while additional conditions can be
applied. We are asking that attention be paid to any potential conflicts and that they be
addressed prior to motion for approval.
David and Marina Sirotek

Ms. Laughlin explained that the reason staff asked for a new map, was because the map provided
did not define the fence line. There was no screen wall shown abutting the residential properties.
Staff requested a new map, which is in front of you, and they called out screen fencing along the
southern property line, the screen fencing will consist of 6 foot high chain link fencing with slats.
The fence along Mountain City Highway and the fence along the westerly property line is not
labeled at this time. The applicant can let us know what he is planning for that.

Mr. Sirotek said it was a good design. The buffer between the fence and Mr. Knudsen’s property.
Mr. Sirotek thought the bare spots in the RV Parking would be a great place to plant trees and
make it look nice.

Leslie Vera, 1542 Tamarack Rd, explained that they had gone through this process once before
with Mr. Knudsen and his wife. She stated that they weren’t against it, they just wanted to make
sure it was pretty, and that it kept the value of their properties up. She had a couple areas of
concern. Ms. Vera wanted to make sure that the Commission was taking into account in the CUP
tonight, because she didn’t know before that it had to be stated in the CUP for it to be held
accountable. There was a lot of talk last time from the Planning Commission and the City, but



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 9 of 27

not all of it is being held to because it wasn’t put into the CUP. She wanted to make sure that the
Planning Commission takes a part in some of the planning tonight for this new business. One of
the concerns she had was on the back side of their properties, where now there is a screen wall
there wasn’t one before, they are parked right up to the fence. Even now she didn’t see any type
of buffer between their screener and the property owner’s fence for maintenance or access. Also,
she was now concerned because a 6 foot slated fence was mentioned. She drove around to see
what other people were doing and what other things have been required for other properties.
There is a beautiful RV and mini storage unit going up on the south side of town abutted right up
to residential. It is right up to the other properties, but they left an elevation difference and they
also had a 10 foot rock wall around the whole perimeter of the property. So, if something were to
run into that wall it wouldn’t break thru the fence where their children are playing, or cause
damage to their private property. She was also thinking about the process that they went through
for the apartment buildings across the way. They did the same thing, knowing that those homes
were high value. They put in a nice screener, which was a brick wall. They also left an area
between the properties. They want to make sure Mr. Knudsen does this development with all of
their needs being thought of. So far, the landscaping is not in. She was hoping there would be a
condition added to the CUP that there would need to be Trees and other landscaping. It was
brought up several times at the last meeting. It was supposed to be 100% of the perimeter and 15
to 20% towards the neighborhood to help shield it. They don’t have that right now. She is the
second house over, and when lights are coming down the first isle they shine right into her front
yard. She was looking forward to having a visual buffer between the storage units and the
neighborhood, because that’s what was spoken of so highly by the Planning Commission last
time. Then, when it was pulled apart, they didn’t put them in because of the sewage line along
the fence, but that didn’t affect the cul-de-sac area. They are still being told that the rocks are
enough. There are rocks all behind the storage units along Tamarack Road. She was worried
because the weeds hadn’t been pulled since they went in. If there was some vegetation in it
would take away from the weeds growing in and taking over. She wanted to see the Planning
Commission, as well as the City, require a distance between their fence and the screener that
goes up. She would like it to be a solid surface that would protect her backyard. A 6 foot fence
isn’t going to cover and hide the recreational vehicles that will be back there. By the sounds of it,
they shouldn’t be able to see the recreational vehicles. They are 10 to 14 feet high, what is a 6
foot high slat fence going to do for them. Those were some things she wanted the Planning
Commission to consider, because as a resident she will be sitting in her backyard. She also
thought it was going to be paved and it had to be where the fire truck could get back there, and so
they wouldn’t have the dust after everything was developed. That is the only fire access if there
is a fire behind them. Ms. Vera had some concerns regarding Fire Department access with the
highly flammable RVs parked behind her home. She wanted to make sure that these things were
taken care of in the CUP. A 6 foot slat fence is not going to do any good, because they will see
everything from their backyard. Every RV that Ms. Vera looked at was 10 to 14 feet tall. Ms.
Laughlin said that the neighbors should not see them from outside. She said she would see 7 to 8
feet of that. As you are planning this please think of a buffer between the property owner’s
fences and a screener. She didn’t want a buffer of 2 foot rocks. She wanted the Commission to
think, if an RV backed into their fence and hits one of their children. Is road base enough? She
wanted to make sure in the CUP that the screen wall was in place and it should be at the lowest
end 10 feet high, and a solid structure. She suggested putting in an alley for secondary access. As
you make these decisions make sure to put them in the CUP so that they are held accountable.



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 10 of 27

Chairman Dalling said Don and Holly Zumwalt of 1554 Tamarack Road have a letter to the
Commission in favor of the new development, as do Chad and Kim Anderson of 1529 Tamarack
Road, and Alice Chacon of 1578 Tamarack Road.

Commissioner Stefan Beck asked if those houses were all in a row.

Ms. Laughlin pointed the addresses out on the map.

Juan Vera, 1542 Tamarack Road, wanted to address the issues of inadequate dust suppression.
He had witnessed large amounts of dust emanate from the storage unit area when they began
construction and from the parcels behind his home.  Mario Estrada, who resides at 1515
Tamarack Road directly west of the storage units, residences was inundated with dust during the
construction process. He and neighbors have called the City office to have the dust controlled.
On one instance their response was it was coming from Tamarack Road. They were in disbelief.
He witnessed firsthand an employee operating a front end loader get out of the loader, not
properly parking or securing the loader, get out of the cab to clean off the dust that had
accumulated on the front windshield. The wipers were insufficient to clear off the dust. In the
process the loader free wheeled approximately 10 feet. He saw the panic in the operators face as
he quickly got back inside the cab of the loader. This took place approximately 10 to 15 feet
behind his property. The water truck should not be parked in front of the construction site for
show. During the construction process the backhoe would transfer materials, soil, etc. to the
parcels behind his home. All of the dust gets stirred up and comes right into the neighbor’s
homes. In the process no water was placed on the route driven by the backhoe. Once again the
dust traveled in their direction. He requested that any suggestions for the CUP from the Planning
Commission be specified in the CUP.

Brad Roberts, 1100 E. Idaho Street, said what he wanted to make a comment about was, since
this item was on the agenda he was sure all the Commissioners went up there to look at the
property to be sure of what they were talking about. They probably noticed that all the homes are
half million, plus homes. If you stick an RV park back there, are you going to lower the assessed
value of those, and lower their taxes? Or are you going to make this worthwhile, so it actually
increases or maintains the value of the homes. Mr. Roberts stated that he had lived in Elko a long
time, and had worked on a number projects, including something very similar to this. One of the
big things the City made this other developer do was put in fire hydrants. He didn’t see anything
about fire hydrants. There is a water line that comes right down Tamarack that could go down
Cattle Drive, loop back, and tie back in. He thought the Fire Department liked to make loops for
the fire lines. Cattle Drive would provide a second access to that property. He thought it was a
laid out street that had never been developed.

Ms. Laughlin explained that the City only had Right-of-Way for the eastern half of Cattle Drive,
and not for the westerly half of Cattle Drive.

Mr. Roberts asked if it was County.

Ms. Laughlin explained that it was in the County and it was private property owners. The City is
in the process of acquiring that.

Mr. Wilkinson pointed out that it was a planned future roadway.



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 11 of 27

Mr. Roberts said fire suppression was a big concern of his. There are a lot of parking spaces, and
everyone one of the vehicles using them will have gasoline in them.

Mr. Wilkinson explained that the developer will be required to extended water looping and
hydrants throughout that entire area under the Fire Code

Mr. Roberts reiterated that if this project was not done properly, it would be devaluing a whole
neighborhood.

Don Zumwalt, 1554 Tamarack Road, stated that he didn’t have the issues that the Sirotek’s and
Vera’s have, because they are dealing with construction now. His house is the third one in. He
said that he was for the CUP. He wanted Mr. Knudsen to finish this property, he wanted him to
develop it, and he wanted it to be done. They will live through construction, noise, and dust.
They knew full well when they bought that piece of property that they would have neighbors on
both sides, and a commercial property behind them. He was thankful that it is not an ambulance
barn or a 24 Hour Joe’s Liquor. He thought that this was the quietists use. He didn’t have the
lighting issues that the Sirotek’s do. He stated that he was the only one of his neighbors that have
a chain link fence. They wanted to be able to see through. They did that knowing that if
something was behind them that they didn’t like, they could change the fence. They would also
plant more trees across the back of the property. He put a gate in his chain link fence, and has
abused Mr. Knudsen’s property. If that stops he will have to go out the front, and take his gate
out. He knew that it would be developed. He agreed with Ms. Vera and didn’t want fire in his
back yard. Whatever the Planning Commission decide to do, with Mr. Knudsen in agreement, he
was good with. If he didn’t like seeing over the 6 foot fence, he said he would plant trees that
grow higher than 6 feet. He was to the point where it would benefit him to have this project done
and clean. He wasn’t worried about his property value, because he didn’t think this would
adversely affect it.

Mike Sallee, 1590 Tamarack Road, which is the last house on Tamarack Road, said he thought
he was the least affected by this project. When he built on his property they heard Lowe’s was
coming and that was the perfect spot for Lowe’s. They didn’t want that, they wanted low impact.
He said they would love it if it was all mini storage, as far as low impact. During construction it
has to be terrible, but the project will be great once it’s complete. He stated that he was in favor
of this project.

Leslie Vera, 1542 Tamarack Road, said that she forgot one thing. In the CUP they were hoping
that if they do screener of 10 feet or higher, that it is the first things that they do, so that it would
protect them from the construction. The last one was 3 ½ years out and it is still going. That
would give them protection, so they aren’t looking at that for 10 years.

Chairman Dalling stated that he had a few questions. He stated that this was on the agenda for
his first Planning Commission Meeting. Lighting was a heavily discussed topic, which we will
circle back to. His other thought was that the Fire trucks and Fire Code that is up to the Fire
Department and the Fire Code, which will be taken care of, because it has to by Code. He stated
that the wrought iron fencing along Mountain City Highway was a big deal on the original
project. Mr. Knudsen was going to have the fencing be the back side of the storage units, which
was a big debate about trying to make Mountain City Highway look better.



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 12 of 27

Andrew Knudsen explained that the original plans had no fence.

Chairman Dalling said he remembered that being a big topic during the original hearing. The
dust control is enforced by the City.

Ms. Laughlin said it was, and with any construction project there is going to be dust and outdoor
construction storage.

Mr. Wilkinson clarified that the City does not have any authority to enforce air regulations. That
is all on the State. Depending on the disturbed acreage, they may, or may not, be required to get
a surface area disturbance permit from the State. The City’s involvement is strictly limited to
taking complaints, making the developer aware of those complaints, and encouraging them to
control dust. The City has no enforcement authority on any air regulations, including dust
suppression.

Mr. Dalling said dust control in this town is tough. Hopefully, with that Mr. Knudsen would use
his water trucks.

Mr. Knudsen said during this project he thought they had only received one complaint on dust.

Ms. Laughlin explained that it was to the previous Development Director.

Mr. Knudsen said that they had addressed the complaint. They take every complaint as serious as
they can. To this point they have only heard of one complaint.

Chairman Dalling asked if it had been 3 ½ years since the project started.

Ms. Laughlin pointed out that the previous CUP was issued in October of 2015.

Mr. Dalling asked if there was an estimate on the finishing date for the current project and the
new project.

M. Knudsen said they wanted it done now. They are trying their hardest. Last spring was really
wet, so that stalled them. They thought they would have their office done by fall. They were
stalled on the DOT frontage for landscaping. They just got approved two weeks ago. They had
been working on that for a year and a half. They believed and hoped that everything would be
done.

Mr. Wilkinson clarified that the landscaping proposed on the NDOT frontage was above and
beyond the requirements. It is off of the property. It is an additional enhancement, just as the
wrought iron fence.

Mr. Knudsen said that wasn’t in the Conditional Use Permit.  As much as everyone else wants it
to look good, they want it to too. This job is taking longer than they expected it to, but they are
working towards it.

Chairman Dalling asked if Mr. Knudsen had a guess on the finish of the new project.



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 13 of 27

Mr. Knudsen said they would love to have the whole thing done by the end of this year, but after
last year they are going to do their best.

Chairman Dalling wanted to ask about the lighting. It was a big deal on the last CUP, on the
shielded lighting.

Mr. Knudsen said that was all approved by City Staff. He couldn’t get a C/O on those buildings
unless that lighting was up. That lighting went up, they received a concern, and then he went up
there at 8 o’clock at night and taped them up. The reason he hasn’t done anything, except for
what is there, was they feel that some lighting is better than none. It’s up there at the end of the
building, the farthest away from the frontage. They don’t want any activity in there that
shouldn’t be taking place. The electrical will come from the building that is not up, so he hasn’t
gone up there and dismantled the lights because he wants a little light up there. This was the first
time he had heard a concern about what he had done two years ago on the lights.

Ms. Laughlin explained that when staff received the building permits for the project, there was a
photometric plan submitted from their electrical engineer, and it met the Code. Staff looks at it as
the 80% of the area for the .25 foot candle, so it met Code. They have talked about the light
fixture. She was going to pull file from two years ago and review the plan again. Staff felt that it
met Code.

Mr. Wilkinson said when they did the Rabbit Brush Apartments across the street there was a
condition for cut off lighting. That property has an 8 foot wall that was determined appropriate, 3
story, so their light fixtures are pretty high up on the building. There was some concerns
expressed by the neighbors, and in the end they had to change out the type of fixture, so that it
was more downcast up against the building, and so it didn’t have a footprint that encroached as
far out. In other areas of that complex they needed the light for safety into the parking areas, so
those fixtures weren’t changes. Sometimes you have to work with that a little bit.

Commissioner Tera Hooiman asked if Mr. Knudsen had taken into consideration putting up
some sort of a buffer.

Mr. Knudsen said he hadn’t, because tonight was the first time he had heard of that concern.
They talked about that with staff, and they talked about how that is a mobile vehicle lighting, not
fixed lighting, so it is no different than someone pulling into the cul-de-sac, or coming up Royal
Crest and making a right hand turn.

Chairman Dalling said since Mr. Knudsen didn’t have any landscaping between his property and
the adjacent property, where the sewer line is located, he suggested putting some landscaping on
the bulb of the cul-de-sac. He thought they talked about making that really fancy with pretty
landscaping. Maybe if there were some trees there it would alleviate the lights shining right into
the houses. He thought if they focused on the one spot it would really make the neighbors happy.

Ms. Laughlin pointed out that the property line on the GIS map was inaccurate. She mentioned
that most of the area was City of Elko right-of-way, but that doesn’t mean that they couldn’t
landscape it, they would just be required to get a Revocable Permit.



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 14 of 27

Chairman Dalling thought that would be a good olive branch. Maybe that would help alleviate
the light pollution.

Ms. Laughlin pointed out that there was some grade variation.

Mr. Knudsen said that was a drainage.

Commissioner Hooiman said something high was not needed there.

Mr. Wilkinson said if you look at the alignment of that drive isle in relation to the homes. It is
shining predominately to the garage and the driveways. There is a building that blocks about ¾
of the home. The Sirotek’s have a 6 foot fence. He wasn’t saying that Mr. Knudsen couldn’t fit a
tree or two in that area. If you look at the drive isle and you look at the garage. There is a garage
door and a window for the garage, and all the bedrooms are back behind the other building, so
the light is not directed right into those windows, it is out to the front end of the house. He might
be able to fit in a tree or two on his property. Mr. Wilkinson asked if there was a water source
there. (No) He would have to cut all the asphalt and bring water in from the frontage.

Commissioner Beck said it looked like David and Leslie had the major concerns, because they
are right adjacent to the property. The third house out is Don and he is able to live with the
situation, understanding he is not adjacent. He also wants it done. Mike kind of wants this to get
done. Commissioner Beck was having a hard time getting an exact understanding of what the
overall mood was. Is Mr. Knudsen at odds with the first two houses? It sounded like there was a
lack of communication. Commissioner Beck asked if they had tried to work this out. It sounded
like this was easily fixable, with a fence and maybe take care of the lighting issue.

Mr. Knudsen said he didn’t want to say they were passed that, because he didn’t think so.
Unfortunately, he was trying to satisfy the CUP, the Code, and do a construction. It seems that
when he first sold the lots to these folks, every one of them knew exactly what was going on
there, and nobody had any problems until the job started. Once it started, he went to all of them
and told them if they had any concerns to call him. He has to do what he’s been told to do. He’s
tried to work with everyone, but at the same time he has job to get done. There have been many
things that have stopped them that have been unreasonable for them as a contractor and owner of
the property. All the neighbors know that they can call Mr. Knudsen at any time with any
concerns. He wants to know the concerns and take care of them, they want to know if there is
activity in there that shouldn’t be in there. He understands that they live there, and they take that
into consideration on every move they make. They are doing everything they can. It doesn’t
matter what he does, or how he does it, it doesn’t satisfy the neighbors.

Commissioner Beck said Mr. Knudsen had put a lot of time and money into this project, and he
has the right to continue his economic goals and achievements. If he has gotten this far and he is
doing a lot to get this project to go, it seems that he would have the right to continue. Maybe
these complaints should have been made long ago.

Ms. Vera said they were not against the project, they just want to make sure that what is put in
CUP is held to. They want to make sure that if there is a screener, that it makes it to where they
can’t see the stuff within it, like the City Code says. They are coming in more educated this time



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 15 of 27

around and they want to make sure that things are listed in the CUP so that the developers have
to follow through with them.

Ms. Laughlin read the definition of a screen wall from the City Code: A masonry wall or opaque
fence so constructed as to prevent the view of enclosed activities or uses from without.

Mr. Wilkinson wanted to put the public comments that they’ve had tonight in context. There was
better than one hundred notices sent out. There are a few individuals that are in close proximity
to the project that have provided written or actual testimony. Of those people that are in close
proximity it appears that more are in favor of the project, than those that have concerns. Some
valid concerns have been raised. He reminded the Planning Commission, the first go around
there was the same testimony that there was a huge fire hazard with the mini storage. That was a
whole line of testimony to discourage the development of the mini storage units. The
requirements of the Fire Code address the fire hazard. There has been talk that we need this
buffer access on the back of the properties. Mr. Wilkinson thought that was more geared towards
ensuring people can utilize it to access their back yards. We don’t do alleys anymore. We don’t
have that type of access on other projects like this one. That seems to be almost taking
somebody’s property and not allowing it to be fully utilized. Mr. Wilkinson didn’t think the fire
issue was a real concern. If they need to protect the homes they’re going to go up Royal Crest
and go to Tamarack and pull a hose, just like if the house is on fire. The Fire Code for hydrants,
spacing, and number of hydrants will be addressed. The water system will be extended through
the property to address that. He reminded the Planning Commission that the minimum
consideration for the Planning Commission under a commercial use abutting a residential district
is for a screen wall, whether it is required or not. It doesn’t require that you put one in, but it
requires a consideration of whether one is required, and if so what type and how high. On Elite
Storage, that was approved abutting two residential properties. It was an 8 foot wall. There is a
gap between one of the uses and Elite Storage, which is because there are utility easements in
there. It wasn’t a requirement to provide spacing between the uses. On the Rabbit Brush
Apartments, which is a much more intense use with 3 story buildings and some topography
difference, they were required an 8 foot wall. To Mr. Wilkinson requirements of 10, 12, and 15
foot walls was an overkill, and almost an approach to make it so financially costly that the
project couldn’t be done. There would probably be a lot of people that actually disagree with an
8 foot wall to screen the exact same use, because they would rather have 6 foot. So it is different
for different people. He thought there were a lot of valid concerns. Mr. Sirotek’s letter actually
has verify specific recommended conditions for the Planning Commission’s consideration. As
you go through each and every one of those and determine whether or not they would be
required to separate the uses.

Ms. Laughlin said there was a comment made that they would like the Planning Commission to
consider having the screen wall built first. You may want to talk to Mr. Knudsen in regards to
how this property will develop. Normally it would be grading, bring in the utilities, compaction,
and then run the fencing. You may want to ask if that is even logical in the way he would
construct the project out.

Commissioner Beck said it looked like the lights and the fence were within Code, but then an
olive branch would be to keep Dave and Leslie happy. He asked if there was a way they could
get some sort of fence started.



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 16 of 27

Mr. Sirotek said during the first meeting they offered to buy trees or shrubs for the project. One
other concern he had was with the weeds between their house and the first row of storage units.
He said Mr. Knudsen needed to clean that up because it is a fire hazard. When he brings up the
fence on the back side of their house and buts it right up to their fence how is he going to pull
those weeds.

Chairman Dalling reiterated that 3-2-10(B)(4) allows for commercial use for storage units.

Mr. Wilkinson added as a principle use, but since it abuts a residential zone a CUP is required.

Chairman Dalling referred to 3-3-2(J), which was what type of fencing or screen, and if they
want 6 foot or 8 foot.

Mr. Knudsen explained that he had gone to other of the residents and asked them what they
would want there. They haven’t requested anything. That is the reason you see a 6 foot chain-
link fence with slats. They don’t want to intrude. If it was his backyard he wouldn’t want to see
his vinyl fence and then something two feet above it that is that close to his fence. The reason
they put the chain link fence with slats was because it was what they thought was best at the
time. They were still going to do the wrought iron down the highway in the front.

Mr. Wilkinson said they should deal with what is going to be required on the property lines. On
the north side does the Planning Commission believe that the continuation of the wrought iron
fencing is appropriate?

Chairman Dalling and Commissioner Hooiman said yes.

Mr. Wilkinson went on to the west side, where they would see some addition commercial
development at some point in time. He asked what the Planning Commission believed was
appropriate, long term on the west property line.

Chairman Dalling asked if Mr. Knudsen was going to put the same fencing on that lot line.

Mr. Knudsen said he had planned on the chain-link fence with the slats.

Mr. Wilkinson explained that the Planning Commission must consider what’s appropriate on this
property line. He thought the Planning Commission should take the time and deliberate what is
appropriate on this property line and then move to the south property line. What is proposed is a
6 foot tall chain link slatted fence.

Commissioner Hooiman thought a slatted chain-link fence along that section would be fine. But,
what the neighbors are asking for along their property line is something a little bit taller.

Chairman Dalling said they wouldn’t go any more than 8 feet. He thought it would be way too
much to ask to put a 14 foot wall there.

Commissioner Hooiman thought 8 feet was a compromise between a gigantic wall and the 6 foot
slatted chain-link fence.



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 17 of 27

Chairman Dalling asked what kind of wall Commissioner Hooiman was proposing.

Commissioner Hooiman said the chain-link with slats.

Commissioner Dalling asked if Mr. Knudsen would be ok with an 8 foot chain-link slatted fence
along the back side of the property.

Mr. Knudsen said he was.

Commissioner Evi Buell said she didn’t know what the line of site was there with 6 foot high
existing back fence, 2 feet of slatted chain-link, and then whatever is visible over that. She
agreed with the onerous part, but she wasn’t sure about the layering.

Commissioner Hooiman said that was what the neighbors were wanting. She was trying to find a
compromise between what is being asked for and what is financially possible.

Mr. Knudsen agreed. He explained that the reason he went with a 6 foot was because he thought
there were some neighbors that didn’t want to see two feet of fence over theirs. He was trying to
help however he could.

Mr. Wilkinson explained that the 8 foot wall was approved for Elite Storage and Mr. Wilkinson
has complaints from three of the neighbors, after the fact that they don’t want to see that higher
fence. Here, 8 foot seems reasonable, if the Planning Commission determines that is a
requirement for a CUP.

Commissioner Hooiman said that’s what the neighbors were asking for.

Commissioner Buell said she didn’t have an issue with that.

Mr. Knudsen pointed out that one neighbor didn’t want it, and another one was indecisive.

Ms. Vera explained that her concern was with the RVs backing up to her fence. That becomes
dangerous, which is why they were seeing if there was anything else. With a chain-link fence
there is no protection.

Mr. Wilkinson agreed that a chain-link fence doesn’t stop a vehicle if it is moving at a high rate
of speed, but this will be someone backing up at a few miles per hour. If there is damage it is an
insurance claim.

Mr. Roberts suggested a 3 foot concrete wall with a 6 foot chain-link fence on top. The concrete
will stop the RVs.

Chairman Dalling said that was good idea, but he didn’t know how cost effective it would be.

Commissioner Ian Montgomery said from what he gathered from the Commission, they were all
in confirmation of having a 6 foot chain-link fence with the slats on the west side. It also seemed
like they were all in confirmation with the south side having a chain-link fence with the slats, it
would just depend on whether it was 6 or 8 feet tall.



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 18 of 27

Mr. Wilkinson thought a 2 foot barrier with a 6 foot chain-link fence on top of it was a great
idea. If that is an issue Mr. Knudsen can’t live with, he can appeal that to the City Council. If the
fence is on top of the barrier it still wouldn’t prevent damage, but it would stop a vehicle.

Chairman Dalling said this was a parking lot, so he didn’t think there was enough room for
people to be going at a high rate of speed. He thought if they did put in a 2 foot concrete barrier
with the fencing above it would stop whatever was coming.

Mr. Wilkinson said if there was a two foot curb, then there won’t be the weeds at the bottom of
the fence. Any weeds on the other side of that post curb will be the neighbor’s weeds, not Mr.
Knudsen’s weeds. That might be something that would resolve a couple different concerns.

Chairman Dalling asked if Mr. Knudsen would be ok with what they were discussing.

Mr. Knudsen said he talked it over with his engineer and he suggested cutting the property three
feet down and then put a fence on the upside. The grade on the ground is sloped that way
anyways and he will have to do some grade work. His engineer said it would be very easy to cut
that three feet, to drop everything. That would be even better that the two foot stem wall, because
now the RVs are going to be sitting lower.

Mr. Wilkinson said that could be a condition that you require that grading to two or three feet,
whatever they agree to.

Chairman Dalling asked how the Planning Commission felt about that. He said that this whole
project was going to have to meet Fire Code, so that really wasn’t up to the Planning
Commission. He thought the new landscaping on Mountain City Highway would be benefit to
the whole City, as well as the residents. He wanted to see a landscape review by City Staff. He
thought they could put that in as a condition of the CUP. He wanted to do that early on to make
sure that the rest of it is landscaped. He really wanted to see something on the cul-de-sac.

Ms. Laughlin asked Mr. Dalling if staff was to review the landscaping according to code, or what
they were reviewing it for.

Chairman Dalling said up to Code, and then he thought the Commission could put some specifics
in there. He asked if the Commissioners wanted to see anything special on the landscaping.

Commissioner Buell said she wanted to see the lighting issues handled.

Chairman Dalling said they could put that in the CUP.

Mr. Wilkinson pointed out that there was a condition that the lighting be cut-off and shielded.

Chairman Dalling asked Mr. Wilkinson to explain what cut-off and shielded meant.

Mr. Wilkinson explained that instead of the light broadcasting up, or horizontally, there is some
shielding, which makes the lighting be downcast. The issue is, for safety, even with the shielding
they have to meet the 80% requirement in the Code. We have to meet the Code, and we have to



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 19 of 27

go above and beyond Code, as appropriate. We have to meet the 80%. There is a suggested
condition that the 80% requirement is met towards the State Route, so that it can be darker on the
other side. We have a use that we don’t believe that would present a safety hazard. That is the
best we can do. Mr. Sirotek suggested that the lighting be no more than 3 ½ feet off the ground,
which would not be appropriate. The shielded lighting is a typical lighting standard for
commercial and industrial developments.

Chairman Dalling had a suggestion. He said that Coldwell Banker had good lighting. They have
goose necks that come out and the lights face towards the building. That would be just a fixture
change that might address some of the light pollution.

Ms. Laughlin pointed out that once the temporary lights get moved it shouldn’t be a problem.
The fixtures that Mr. Knudsen has installed are shielded, downward lights. That is what staff
approved. She said she needed to do a site drive by to see that that’s what was installed, but what
staff approved was shielded downward lights.

Mr. Wilkinson said what was on Coldwell Banker was great, but you have to keep in mind that
the street is lit. Here we are trying to use a fixture to light the front of the building and the drive
isles, so that it is well lit and we don’t have safety issues. We don’t want the light to be
broadcasted past the area of need.

Commissioner Montgomery said once the final building is in, it should fix the lighting issue.

Ms. Laughlin said it would fix that.

Mr. Wilkinson believed Mr. Sirotek’s condition that the U-Haul activities are restricted to the
highway side was a good condition. He thought they had talked about the screen wall, the
landscaping, and lighting. Requirement of a cut on that property of 2 feet. They are not allowed
to encroach onto the neighboring properties. They are grading the property down and they will
have a chain-link fence set at the crest. The question is how high the fence is going to be. Is it
going to be 8 feet high, so then there will be a depth of 10 feet, or a 6 foot fence on the property
line. He thought they could cut the property 2 feet and then there could be either a 6 foot or an 8
foot slatted fence, whatever the Planning Commission decided.

There was discussion on the changes to the conditions listed in the staff report, which Ms.
Laughlin went over earlier in the meeting.

Mr. Wilkinson thought they needed to be specific that the U-Haul activity would be limited to
the half of the property that fronts Mountain City Highway. On that half of the property that is
where the U-Haul activity can take place, the other half there will be no U-Haul activity. That
should give Mr. Knudsen plenty of room, but reduce the level of activity on the residential side.

Ms. Laughlin thought the Commission should allow Mr. Knudsen some flexibility in the striping
plan that he has presented, because the layout for the lighting and the fire hydrants has not been
completed yet. We don’t want to restrict him to just the striping plan that has been presented.

Mr. Wilkinson explained that the parking would be driven by where staff approved the lighting.
That would be self-governing.



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 20 of 27

Commissioner Buell said the only thing she didn’t have that they had come to a consensus on
was the height of the chain-link fence on the south property line.

Mr. Ballew drew a picture of what he was proposing. It was a two foot cut three feet from the
neighbors existing fence without a fence on top and landscaping on the crest instead.

Mr. Wilkinson said that the Planning Commission should not rely on the residential fencing in
consideration of the screen wall. They should look at it independently, as if they didn’t even have
fencing. If that fence was removed would we still required a screen fence between those uses.
That is how the Commission should consider the south property line. Mr. Wilkinson thought
screen fencing would be required on the south property line.

Commissioner Hooiman said they have to have a screen wall of some sort.

Mr. Wilkinson said they needed to consider the merits of it. He recommended that they didn’t
put the condition on the residential. If you try to plant trees close to the neighbor’s fences there
will be complaints about that in the future, so that won’t work. If you cut it down and there was a
little bit of a ledge, where you could construct a fence. A post will take a 12” post hole to put in a
chain-link fence that is slatted. The question was whether it should be 6 foot tall or 8 foot tall. If
it is an 8 foot tall fence along the south property line and you cut the property down two feet,
there will be 10 feet to work with. Mr. Wilkinson thought that would be a pretty good outcome.

Chairman Dalling thought they should put in a 6 foot fence on top of the cut within a foot of the
existing fencing.

Commissioner Buell asked if Mr. Dalling wanted them to designate where the fence had to be.

Mr. Wilkinson said they should designate that as close as is practical.

Ms. Laughlin thought they should also designate what color of slats are to go in the fence.

***Motion: Conditionally approve Conditional Use Permit No. 1-19 subject to the
conditions in the City of Elko Staff Report dated January 18, 2019, removing Fire
Department Condition 2, adding a condition, and a modification to Condition 1, listed as
follows:

1. The permit is granted to the applicant Sundance Mini Storage, LP allowing for the
development of commercial storage units, recreation vehicle storage, vehicular storage,
and U-Haul rentals and storage. Prohibition of storage of construction equipment and
material after completion of the project.

2. The permit shall be personal to the permittee and applicable only to the specific use and
to the specific property for which it is issued. However, the Planning Commission may
approve the transfer of the conditional use permit to another owner. Upon issuance of an
occupancy permit for the conditional use, signifying that all zoning and site development
requirements imposed in connection with the permit have been satisfied, the conditional
use permit shall thereafter be transferable and shall run with the land, whereupon the
maintenance or special conditions imposed by the permit, as well as compliance with



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 21 of 27

other provisions of the zoning district, shall be the responsibility of the property owner.

3. The conditional use permit shall automatically lapse and be of no effect one year from the
date of its issue unless the permit holder is actively engaged in developing the specific
property in use for which the permit was issued.

4. CUP 1-19 to be recorded with the Elko County Recorder within 90 days after the
commencement of the expansion to the current facility.

5. A landscaping plan is required. All landscaping required by Elko City Code shall be
maintained in a manner acceptable to the City of Elko at all times by the property owner.

6. The development of curb, gutter and sidewalk along Mountain City Highway is hindered
by a pet cemetery located in NDOT right of way. A 5’ wide sidewalk shall be installed in
a pedestrian easement along the Mountain City Highway frontage. The property owner
will be required to request a waiver for curb and gutter along Mountain City Highway
based on the information provided by NDOT.

7. Lighting of the property shall be cut-off shielded lighting and directed away from the
residential properties. Site lighting complying with 3-2-17 shall be presented to meet the
code furthest away from the residential properties.

8. Access to the property shall be limited to Sundance Drive as shown on the plans.

9. A screen-wall shall be on the North side a continuation of the current wrought iron fence,
the west side 6 foot slatted chain link fence to be a neutral color, and the south side two
foot cut grading and a 6 foot slatted chain link fence at the crest, also the neutral color,
placed as close as is practical to the existing residential fences.

10. BLA 1-19 be approved and recorded at the Elko County Recorder’s office.

11. Expanded area to have an all-weather surface such as base with a minimum of 6” deep in
all areas outside of designated fire department access areas.

Fire Department Conditions:

1. IFC D102.1 Access and Loading: Facilities, buildings or portions of buildings hereafter
constructed shall be accessible to fire department apparatus by way of an approved fire
apparatus access road with asphalt, concrete or other approved driving surface capable of
supporting the imposed load of fire apparatus weighing at least 75,000 pounds.

2. IFC Appendix C - Fire Hydrants need to be shown on plan review and needed for new
area proposed.

Planning Commission Conditions:

1. The U-Haul facility must be on the half of the property that is nearest to Mountain City
Highway.



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 22 of 27

Commissioner Buell’s findings to support the motion was the conditional use is in
conformance with the Land Use Component of the Master Plan. The conditional use is in
conformance with the Transportation Component of the Master Plan and existing
transportation infrastructure. The conditional use is in conformance with the Wellhead
Protection Plan. Approval of the Conditional Use Permit is required for the proposed use
to be in conformance to section 3-2-10 of the Elko City Code. Approval of the Conditional
Use Permit is required for the proposed use to be in conformance with Section 3-2-3, 3-2-4,
3-2-17, and 3-2-18 of the Elko City Code. The proposed use conforms to Section 3-8 of Elko
City Code.

Moved by Evi Buell, Seconded by Ian Montgomery.

*Motion passed unanimously. (6-0)

B. MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS, PETITIONS, AND COMMUNICATIONS

1. Review, consideration, and possible recommendation to City Council for Vacation
No. 1-19, filed by MP Elko, LLC., for the vacation of a portion of the public utility
and drainage easement located along the north and east property lines of APN 001-
660-049, consisting of an area approximately 1,300 square feet, and matters related
thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION

The subject property is located generally on the southwest side of Mountain City
Highway, approximately 370’ northeast of Connolly Drive. (APN 001-660-049.
2525 Mountain City Highway)

Ms. Laughlin went over the City of Elko Staff report dated January 17, 2019. Staff recommended
approval with the conditions and findings in the staff report.

Mr. Holmes had no concerns and recommended approval.

Mr. Wilkinson recommended approval as presented by staff.

***Motion: Forward a recommendation to City Council to adopt a resolution which
conditionally approves Vacation No. 1-19 subject to the conditions listed in the City of Elko
Staff Report dated January 17, 2019, listed as follows:

1. The applicant is responsible for all costs associated with the recordation of the
vacation.

2. Written response from all non-City utilities is on file with the City of Elko with
regard to the vacation in accordance with NRS 278.480(6) before the order is
recorded.

Commissioner Buell’s findings to support the motion was the proposed vacation is in
conformance with NRS 278.479 to 278.480, inclusive. The proposed vacation is in
conformance with the City of Elko Master Plan Land Use Component. The proposed



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 23 of 27

vacation is in conformance with the City of Elko Master Plan Transportation Component.
The easement proposed for vacation is not located within the Redevelopment Area. The
proposed vacation is in conformance with City Code 3-2-10(B). The proposed vacation with
the recommended conditions is in conformance with Section 8-7 of City Code. The
proposed vacation will not materially injure the public and is in the best interest of the
City.

Moved by Evi Buell, Seconded by Tera Hooiman.

*Motion passed unanimously. (6-0)

2. Review, consideration and possible action on Temporary Use Permit No. 1-19, filed
by Sundance Mini Storage, LP, to allow for a storage unit to be used as the renting
office for the storage units, recreational vehicle storage, and U-Haul rentals, and
matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION

The subject property is located generally southwest of the intersection of Mountain
City Highway and Sundance Drive. (3701 Sundance Drive)

Mr. Knudsen, 5013 W Bullion Road, explained that they were requesting a TUP for their office
for temporary use. He thought they had met all the standards there. They are in the process of
building their permanent office. The cold was coming, so they decided to pull off of the office
and get the concrete in for their last storage unit building. The office will be brick.
Unfortunately, when the cold set in he didn’t have the ability, the time, or the money to tent the
office to get it done before spring. They are waiting until spring. They are back on it now, and
they are going to do what they can. He didn’t expect the office to be finished until later. He
talked about it with the City and they agreed to a 6 month TUP instead of a year. They would
love to have the office done in 6 months.

Chairman Dalling asked if Mr. Knudsen currently had a TUP.

Mr. Knudsen explained that the TUP they had expired. That one slipped through on the
expiration because the City noticed that they had started construction, then they stopped. That’s
when he was notified that he needed to come and get another TUP.

Ms. Laughlin went through City of Elko Staff Report dated January 16, 2019. Staff
recommended approval with the conditions and findings in the staff report.

Mr. Holmes had no comments.

Mr. Wilkinson recommended approval as presented by staff.

Chairman Dalling said that they had discussed on the last TUP that there was supposed to be an
ADA blue room that was supposed to be placed close to the office.

Mr. Knudsen said what is interesting about it is that they had called the company many times to
bring them one, and for some reason they won’t bring them one. He had also been told that it



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 24 of 27

wasn’t mandatory for him to have a restroom for the public. The only thing he was told to have
was a restroom for the workers. They have no employees, so that bathroom was to accommodate
what is there. That’s why he didn’t pursue the ADA Blue Room, because he had had mixed
communication on that.

Chairman Dalling said he would have to defer to City Staff on that, because he wasn’t positive
on it.

Ms. Laughlin explained that the Building Department put in their condition. It states the IBC
Code, which is the International Building Code. There could be a Health Department provision
that we are not aware of that doesn’t require a public restroom. She explained that she would
have to refer that to the public health department.

Mr. Wilkinson said they could qualify that condition where the City Planning Department will
verify with the Building Department if the unit is required or not. If it is required Mr. Knudsen
will have to personally go down and talk to the port-a-potty company.

Chairman Dalling thought that was fair.

Commissioner Buell asked for clarification on the wording for that condition.

Chairman Dalling suggested that if it was required, Mr. Knudsen would have to put an additional
ADA port-a-potty by the office.

Mr. Wilkinson suggested they say located in close proximity to the temporary office.

***Motion: Conditionally approve Temporary Use Permit No. 1-19 subject to the following
conditions found in the City of Elko Staff Report dated January 16, 2019, with an
additional condition, listed as follows:

Planning Department:
1. The duration of the temporary use is no longer than 6 months.
2. Completion and certificate of occupancy for the office currently under construction

required prior to the expiration of the TUP 1-19.

Building Department:
1. B Occupancies require the following:

Accessible restroom as per 2009 IBC 2902.1 / chapter 6 ICC A117.1-2009

Planning Commission:
1. The Planning Department is to verify with the Building Department the status of the

requirements of an ADA restroom, and if one is required it shall be placed within close
proximity of the temporary office.

Commissioner Buell’s findings to support the motion was the proposed TUP is in
conformance with the Land Use Component of the Master Plan. The proposed TUP is in
conformance with the Transportation Component of the Master Plan. The proposed TUP
is in conformance with Elko City Code 3-2-3(C)(5). The proposed TUP is in conformance
with Elko City Code 3-2-17. The parcel is not located in a designated flood zone.



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 25 of 27

Moved by Evi Buell, Seconded by Tera Hooiman.

*Motion passed unanimously. (6-0)

3. Review and consideration of the 2019 City of Elko land inventory update. FOR
POSSIBLE ACTION

Ms. Laughlin explained that the City updates the land inventory as needed. There are a couple of
parcels that have been brought to our attention that we felt that it was time to make an update.
She wanted to go over the highlights of what was being proposed. She explained that there was a
City of Elko owned parcel that was at the end of Rocky Road, it was designated as Parks and we
would like to change the designation to sell. There is a potential buyer for that parcel. All of the
areas that are hatched, we are proposing to add them to our land inventory list as parcels for the
City to purchase. They are all owned by the BLM. There are a few more BLM parcels that we
would like to designate as to purchase. Property no. 12 was previously listed as retain, we would
like to change that to for sale. On the south side of the City there are a few more BLM parcels.
There is one off of Errecart that we would like to list as to purchase as well. Those are the
updates that we would like to make to the Land Inventory. There was one more property at the
north part of the Airport that is in private hands that we would like to purchase for the Airport, as
it was listed in the Airport Master plan.

***Motion: Forward a recommendation to City Council to update the City of Elko Land
Inventory as presented by staff.

Moved by Evi Buell, Seconded by Tera Hooiman.

*Motion passed unanimously. (6-0)

4. Review, consideration, and possible action on the 2018 Annual Report of Planning
Commission activities. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION

Ms. Laughlin went through the 2018 Annual Report of Planning Commission Activities.

***Motion: Approve the 2018 Annual Report of Planning Commission Activities as
presented, and forward a recommendation to City Council to approve the report.

Moved by Evi Buell, Seconded by Tera Hooiman.

*Motion passed unanimously. (6-0)

II. REPORTS

A. Summary of City Council Actions.



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 26 of 27

Ms. Laughlin reported at the City Council meeting on January 8th they accepted the letter
of resignation from David Freistroffer and authorized staff to advertise for the vacancy.
Under unfinished business, for a few months the Final Plat for Great Basin Estates Phase
3 has been on the agenda. NDEP has ordered a cease and desist on that project, and
until that is lifted it will continue to be tabled. Under New Business there was the Deed of
Dedication from Joy Global for the cul-de-sac area. That has been completed and is now
dedicated to the City. There was also Map of Reversion to Acreage for Joy Global,
which is combining four properties into one. The Council took no action on the Great
Basin Estates Performance Agreement. Resolution 33-18 for the Vacation of P&H Drive.
That was approved. Adoption of Resolution 32-18 for the vacation of D Street and Cedar
Street was approved. The Preliminary Plat 13-18 for Koinonia for Copper Trails Phase 2
was approved. Council took action to adopt Resolution 31-18, which was the change in
the zoning for that property to make it all R. They also adopted Ordinance 838 for the
Development Agreement between the developer and the City of Elko. On January 22nd

there was a presentation of an appreciation plaque to David Freistroffer. Phase 3 of
Great Basin and the Performance Agreement were on the agenda again. They approved
the 2019 Planning Commission Work Program. Council accepted the petition of vacation
for MP Elko.

B. Summary of Redevelopment Agency Actions.

Chairman Dalling reported that they had a good meeting. They decided to do some
awards. Bill Hance, newest Councilman, is the newest member of the RAC. They are
going to be giving out some awards for reinvesting in the Redevelopment Area. The Block
Ends is their next big project. He will be working with Catherine Wines on a redesign to
make everyone happier. They already finished the park and the tower.

C. Professional articles, publications, etc.

1. Zoning Bulletin

D. Preliminary agendas for Planning Commission meetings.

E. Elko County Agendas and Minutes.

F. Planning Commission evaluation.  General discussion pertaining to motions, findings,
and other items related to meeting procedures.

Ms. Laughlin reported that she has been trying to research some additional training, as
requested. She has found a book that she was planning to order that she thought would
be beneficial. We plan on adding a little something in each packet from this meeting
forward that will be a little training. She has also located a couple webinars that she is
looking into as well. She thanked the three Commissioners that attended the Ethics
Training. It is important that we all attend that every year, because things change, laws
change, and there are always new examples.

Chairman Dalling thought everyone did a great job deliberating. His only comment was
to caution them. He thought they got a little out of hand on the public comment. He felt



February 5, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 27 of 27

that they asked some questions that were a little vague and asking the public to want to
come up. He thought in the future they needed to refrain from those types of questions.

Commissioner Buell thought that was where the training would be beneficial. She
thought they needed to be a little surer of themselves.

Chairman Dalling said if they could ever find a dollar for training it would be beneficial.
He said the cheapest option would be to get someone to come to Elko. He asked if it
would help to get a class if they could get Reno or Sparks in on it.

Ms. Laughlin said she had been looking into it.

Chairman Dalling said last time he talked to Curtis, he said he would make money for
them to get training.

Ms. Laughlin said they were in the budget process right now.

Chairman Dalling said it would make it better for the applicants, the City, and City Staff.

Ms. Laughlin said she was going to order some books that she felt would be beneficial.
Going back to the CUP, we have to separate ourselves between their civil issues and
Code requirements.

Mr. Wilkinson complimented Mr. Dalling as the chair for running the meeting and
complimented the Planning Commission.

G. Staff.

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC

There were no public comments made at this time.

NOTE: The Chairman or Vice Chairman reserves the right to change the order of the agenda
and if the agenda is not completed, to recess the meeting and continue on another
specified date and time. Additionally, the Planning Commission reserves the right to
combine two or more agenda items, and/or remove an item from the agenda, or delay
discussion relating to an item on the agenda at any time.

ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned.

Jeff Dalling, Chairman Tera Hooiman, Secretary



Agenda Item # I.A.1 

Created on 2/21/2019  Planning Commission Action Sheet 

Elko City Planning Commission 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible action on Conditional Use Permit No. 2-

19, filed by The Stage Door Elko, LLC, which would allow for a bar within a C 

(General Commercial) Zoning District located within the Central Business District, 

and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 
 

2. Meeting Date:  March 5, 2019 

 

3. Agenda Category: NEW BUSINESS, PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

 

5. Background Information: The Stage Door Elko, LLC is proposing a cabaret theatre 

space to be located at 303 3rd Street. The property has been vacant for some time.  

As required by Elko City Code 3-2-10(B)(5)(C) any new business such as a bar 

within the CBD, it requires a CUP. 

 

6. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

 

7. Supplemental Agenda Information: Application, Staff Report 

 

8. Recommended Motion: Move to conditionally approve Conditional Use Permit 2-19 

based on the facts, findings and conditions presented in Staff Report dated 

February 21, 2019. 
 

9. Findings: See Staff report dated February 21, 2019. 

 

10. Prepared By: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 

 

11. Agenda Distribution:  Emily Anderson 

3117 Clover Hills Circle 

Elko, NV 89801 





Page 1 of 7

CITY OF ELKO STAFF REPORT

DATE: February 21, 2019
PLANNING COMMISSION DATE: March 5, 2019
AGENDA ITEM NUMBER: I.A.1
APPLICATION NUMBER: Conditional Use Permit 2-19
APPLICANT: The Stage Door Elko, LLC.
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:

Within the CBD, any new business involving activities which are reasonably likely to discourage
other businesses through light, noise, odors, types and levels of activity, or the creation of a
nuisance, such as (without limitation) auto and truck service and repair facilities; mobile home,
recreational vehicle and truck sales lots; gas service stations; miniwarehousing facilities;
veterinary clinics; bars; and other uses determined by the city to have similar impacts, shall be
required to first obtain a conditional use permit.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

RECOMMEND APPROVAL, subject to findings of fact, and conditions as stated in this report.

City of Elko
1751 College Avenue

Elko, NV  89801
(775) 777-7160

FAX (775) 777-7119



CUP 2-19
The Stage Door Elko, LLC

Page 2 of 7

PROJECT INFORMATION

PARCEL NUMBER: UP Property, No APN

PROPERTY SIZE: n/a

EXISTING ZONING: C –General Commercial

MASTER PLAN DESIGNATION: Undesignated

EXISTING LAND USE: Developed as Commercial Land Use

NEIGHBORHOOD CHARACTERISTICS:

 The property is surrounded by Commercial zoned property, developed and undeveloped
land to the north, south, east and west.

PROPERTY CHARACTERISTICS:

 The property is currently developed.
 The property is fairly flat.
 The property is accessed from 3rd Street.
 The property is not in a flood zone.

APPLICABLE MASTER PLANS AND CITY CODE SECTIONS:

 City of Elko Master Plan-Land Use Component
 City of Elko Master Plan-Transportation Component
 City of Elko Redevelopment Plan
 City of Elko Wellhead Protection Plan
 City of Elko Code 3-2-3 General Provisions
 City of Elko Code 3-2-4 Establishment of Zoning Districts
 City of Elko Code 3-2-10 Commercial Zoning District
 City of Elko Code 3-2-17 Traffic, Access, Parking and Loading Regulations
 City of Elko Code 3-2-18 Conditional Use Permits
 City of Elko Code 3-8 Flood Plain Management

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

 The application for the Conditional Use Permit was filed as required under City Code 3-2-
10(B)(5)(c).

 There are no other conditional uses on the property.
 The property is located in the Redevelopment Area, Central Business District.
 The land is owned by the Union Pacific Railroad and the building will be leased from the

building owner, Dennis Parker.

MASTER PLAN

Land Use

1. The Master Plan Land Use Atlas does not designate the area.



CUP 2-19
The Stage Door Elko, LLC

Page 3 of 7

2. Objective 6: Encourage multiple scales of commercial development to serve the needs of
the region, the community, and individual neighborhoods.

3. Objective 8: Encourage new development that does not negatively impact County-wide
natural systems, or public/federal lands such as waterways, wetlands, drainages,
floodplains etc., or pose a danger to human health and safety.

The conditional use is in conformance with the Objectives of the Master Plan.

Transportation

1. The Master Plan identifies 3rd Street as Residential Collector.
2. The site has pedestrian access along 3rd Street.
3. The existing facility meets the goals listed in the Master Plan Transportation document as

Best Practice Objective 1; Provide a balanced transportation system that accommodates
vehicle, bicycles, and pedestrians, while being sensitive to, and supporting the adjacent
land uses.

The conditional use is in conformance with the Transportation Component of the Master Plan and
existing transportation infrastructure.

CITY OF ELKO REDEVELOPMENT PLAN
1. The property is located within the Redevelopment Area and more specifically the Central

Business District.
2. Redevelopment goals and objectives:

 To promote and insure public safety and welfare; to eliminate and prevent the
spread of blight and deterioration, and the conservation, rehabilitation and
redevelopment of the Redevelopment Area in accord with the Master Plan, the
Redevelopment Plan and local codes and ordinances

 To promote and support a pedestrian oriented downtown; and, to achieve an
environment reflecting a high level of concern for architectural, landscape, and
urban design and land use principles appropriate for attainment of the
objectives of the Redevelopment Plan.

 To ensure adequate vehicular access and circulation; to retain and sustain
existing businesses by means of redevelopment and rehabilitation activities,
and encourage cooperation and participation of owners, businesses and public
agencies in the revitalization of the Redevelopment Area.

 To promote historic and cultural interest in the Redevelopment Area; and,
encourage investment by the private sector in the development and
redevelopment of the Redevelopment Area by eliminating impediments to such
development and redevelopment.

 To achieve Plan conformance and advancement through re-planning, redesign
and the redevelopment of areas which are stagnant or improperly used.

3. The proposed development repurposes the existing vacant building.

The proposed Conditional Use Permit is in conformance with the Redevelopment Plan.



CUP 2-19
The Stage Door Elko, LLC

Page 4 of 7

ELKO WELLHEAD PROTECTION PLAN

The property is located outside the 30-year capture zone for City wells.

The conditional use is in conformance with the Wellhead Protection Plan.

SECTION 3-2-3 GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 3-2-3 (C) 1 of City code specifies use restrictions. The following use restrictions shall
apply.

1. Principal Uses: Only those uses and groups of uses specifically designated as
“principal uses permitted’ in zoning district regulations shall be permitted as
principal uses; all other uses shall be prohibited as principal uses

2. Conditional Uses: Certain specified uses designated as “conditional uses
permitted” may be permitted as principal uses subject to special conditions of
location, design, construction, operation and maintenance hereinafter specified in
this chapter or imposed by the planning commission or city council.

3. Accessory Uses: Uses normally accessory and incidental to permitted principal or
conditional uses may be permitted as hereinafter specified.

Other uses may apply under certain conditions with application to the City.

1. Section 3-2-3(D) states that “No land may be used or structure erected where the land
is held by the planning commission to be unsuitable for such use or structure by reason
of flooding, concentrated runoff, inadequate drainage, adverse soil or rock formation,
extreme topography, low bearing strength, erosion susceptibility, or any other features
likely to be harmful to the health, safety and general welfare of the community. The
planning commission, in applying the provisions of this section, shall state in writing
the particular facts upon which its conclusions are based. The applicant shall have the
right to present evidence contesting such determination to the city council if he or she
so desires, whereupon the city council may affirm, modify or withdraw the
determination of unsuitability.”

The proposed use is required to have an approval as a conditional use to be in conformance with
ECC 3-2-3 as required in ECC 3-2-10(B)(5).

SECTION 3-2-4 ESTABLISHMENT OF ZONING DISTRICTS

1. Section 3-2-4(B)  Required Conformity To District Regulations: The regulations set forth
in this chapter for each zoning district shall be minimum regulations and shall apply
uniformly to each class or kind of structure or land, except as provided in this subsection.

2. Section 3-2-4(B)(4) stipulates that no yard or lot existing on the effective date hereof shall
be reduced in dimension or area below the minimum requirements set forth in this title.

The proposed location is Union Pacific Railroad owned property and therefore not on an actual
parcel so conformance with Elko City Code 3-2-4 is not required.

SECTION 3-2-10 COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS

1. Section 3-2-10(B)(5) Within the CBD, any new business involving activities which are
reasonably likely to discourage other businesses through light, noise, odors, types and
levels of activity, or the creation of a nuisance, such as (without limitation) auto and truck



CUP 2-19
The Stage Door Elko, LLC

Page 5 of 7

service and repair facilities; mobile home, recreational vehicle and truck sales lots; gas
service stations; miniwarehousing facilities; veterinary clinics; bars; and other uses
determined by the city to have similar impacts, shall be required to first obtain a
conditional use permit

2. Height Restrictions: All structures within the C general commercial zoning district must
comply with the height and other requirements of the current city airport master plan, to
the extent the plan applies to that location.

3. The property doesn’t abut a residential zone so therefore is not required to comply with
screen wall requirements set forth in subsection 3-2-3(J).

4. Development of the property is required to be in conformance with City code and
conditions for the CUP.

The proposed use is in conformance with the development standards of this section of code.

SECTION 3-2-17 TRAFFIC, ACCESS, PARKING AND LOADING REGULATIONS

1. All principal permitted uses occupying basement floor area, ground level or first story
floor area or second story floor area, or any combination thereof, and which are situated
on property located within four hundred feet (400') of the Central Business District (CBD)
public parking corridor, are exempted from providing required off street parking.

The proposed use conforms to section 3-2-17 of Elko city code.

SECTION 3-2-18 CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS

General Regulations:

1. Certain uses of land within designated zoning districts shall be permitted as principal uses
only upon issuance of a conditional use permit. Subject to the requirements of this chapter,
other applicable chapters, and where applicable to additional standards established by the
Planning Commission, or the City Council, a conditional use permit for such uses may be
issued.

2. Every conditional use permit issued, including a permit for a mobile home park, shall
automatically lapse and be of no effect one (1) year from the date of its issue unless the
permit holder is actively engaged in developing the specific property to the use for which
the permit was issued.

3. Every conditional use permit issued shall be personal to the permittee and applicable only
to the specific use and to the specific property for which it is issued. However, the
Planning Commission may approve the transfer of the conditional use permit to another
owner. Upon issuance of an occupancy permit for the conditional use, signifying that all
zoning and site development requirements imposed in connection with the permit have
been satisfied, the conditional use permit shall thereafter be transferable and shall run with
the land, whereupon the maintenance or special conditions imposed by the permit, as well
as compliance with other provisions of the zoning district, shall be the responsibility of the
property owner.

4. Conditional use permits shall be reviewed from time to time by City personnel.
Conditional use permits may be formally reviewed by the Planning Commission. In the
event that any or all of the conditions of the permit or this chapter are not adhered to, the
conditional use permit will be subject to revocation.

3-8 FLOOD PLAIN MANAGEMENT

The parcel is not located within a designated flood plain.



CUP 2-19
The Stage Door Elko, LLC

Page 6 of 7

FINDINGS

1. The conditional use is in conformance with the Objectives in the Land Use Component of
the Master Plan.

2. The conditional use is in conformance with the Transportation Component of the Master
Plan and existing transportation infrastructure.

3. The conditional use is in conformance with the Wellhead Protection Plan.

4. Approval of the Conditional Use Permit is required for the proposed use to be in
conformance to section 3-2-10 of the Elko city code.

5. Approval of the Conditional Use Permit is required for the proposed use to be in
conformance with sections 3-2-3, 3-2-4, 3-2-17, and 3-2-18 of the Elko city code.

6. The proposed use conforms to section 3-8 of Elko city code.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends APPROVAL of CUP 2-19 with the following conditions:

1. The permit is granted to the applicant The Stage Door Elko, LLC.

2. The conditional use permit shall automatically lapse and be of no effect one year from the
issuance unless the permit holder is actively engaged in developing the specific property
to the use for which the permit was issued.

3. The permit shall be personal to the permittee and applicable only to the specific use and to
the specific property for which it is issued. However, the Planning Commission may
approve the transfer of the conditional use permit to another owner. Upon issuance of an
occupancy permit for the conditional use, signifying that all zoning and site development
requirements imposed in connection with the permit have been satisfied, the conditional
use permit shall thereafter be transferable and shall run with the land, whereupon the
maintenance or special conditions imposed by the permit, as well as compliance with
other provisions of the zoning district, shall be the responsibility of the property owner.

4. CUP 2-19 to be recorded with the Elko County Recorder within 90 days after the
commencement of the expansion to the current facility.

5. Signage will require a separate application with the Building Department and be subject to
Elko City Code 3-9 as well as Redevelopment Agency approval.

6. Applicant to maintain an account with Elko Sanitation at all times for collection of
garbage, refuse, or waste. Receptacles shall be of adequate capacity and be provided in
sufficient number to hold all garbage, refuse or waste that accumulates between
collections.

7. Exterior of the building to be properly lit with lighting that is shielded from the adjacent
motel windows.



CUP 2-19
The Stage Door Elko, LLC

Page 7 of 7

Building Department:

1. Building permits are required for all work proposed for access.

City Clerk:

1. A business license is required prior to opening for business.
2. A liquor license is required prior to serving liquor.

Fire Department:

1. The applicant is responsible for obtaining any and all associated building and fire related
construction and/or operational permits required to gain approval for the proposed use.

Police Department:

1. Bar to be closed during any children’s events.
2. No conditional use for special event sexually oriented business.
3. Lighting to be installed to illuminate the parking area within the lease agreement.
4. Limit hours of operation as deemed appropriate by Planning Commission.























Front Elevation 
Facing 3rd Street

Side Elevation
Facing Commercial Street







Agenda Item # I.A.2 

Created on 3/23/2017  Planning Commission Action Sheet 

Elko City Planning Commission 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible action on Conditional Use Permit No. 3-19, filed 

by Elite Storage and RV, LLC, which would allow for a storage facility and recreational 

vehicle storage within a C (General Commercial) Zoning District, and matters related 

thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 
 

2. Meeting Date:  March 5, 2019 

 

3. Agenda Category: NEW BUSINESS, PUBLIC HEARINGS 

  

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

 

5. Background Information: CUP 3-17 was approved on July 18, 2017 for the development of 

storage units. The property owner is now proposing an expansion of the development to 

include two additional buildings and a modification to the approved screen wall. 

 

6. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

 

7. Supplemental Agenda Information: Application, Staff Report 

 

8. Recommended Motion: Move to conditionally approve Conditional Use Permit 3-19 based on 

the facts, findings and conditions presented in Staff Report dated February 25, 2019. 
 

9. Findings: See Staff report dated February 25, 2019. 

 

10. Prepared By: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 

 

11. Agenda Distribution:  Elite Storage and RV, LLC 

45 Teton Drive 

Lindon, Utah 82042-2272 





Page 1 of 7

CITY OF ELKO STAFF REPORT

DATE: February 25, 2019
PLANNING COMMISSION DATE: March 5, 2019
AGENDA ITEM NUMBER: I.A.2
APPLICATION NUMBER: Conditional Use Permit 3-19
APPLICANT: Elite Storage and RV, LLC.
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: Opal and 12th Street

Within the C general commercial zoning district, storage units shall be required to first
obtain a conditional use permit. A conditional use permit is required for every new
development on a lot or parcel in the C general commercial zoning district which abuts a
residential zoning district. The property owner is proposing an expansion to the existing
development and approved CUP.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

RECOMMEND APPROVAL, subject to findings of fact, conditions as stated in this report.

City of Elko
1751 College Avenue

Elko, NV  89801
(775) 777-7160

FAX (775) 777-7119



CUP 3-19
Elite Storage and RV, LLC
APN: 001-630-056

Page 2 of 7

PROJECT INFORMATION

PARCEL NUMBER: 001-630-056

PROPERTY SIZE: 6.66 acres

EXISTING ZONING: C -General Commercial,

MASTER PLAN DESIGNATION: (COMM-GEN) Commercial General

EXISTING LAND USE: Developed, currently under development

NEIGHBORHOOD CHARACTERISTICS:
The property is surrounded by developed land to the south, west, and east. There is a
residential subdivision being developed to the north.

PROPERTY CHARACTERISTICS:
The property is currently under construction for the storage units previously approved
under CUP 3-17.
The property is generally flat with no unusual conditions.
There is a difference in elevation at the property line along the townhomes.
The property will be accessed from Opal Drive.
The property is not in the floodway and flood zone.

APPLICABLE MASTER PLANS AND CITY CODE SECTIONS:

 City of Elko Master Plan-Land Use Component
 City of Elko Master Plan-Transportation Component
 City of Elko Redevelopment Plan
 City of Elko Wellhead Protection Plan
 City of Elko Code 3-2-3 General Provisions
 City of Elko Code 3-2-4 Establishment of Zoning Districts
 City of Elko Code 3-2-10 General Commercial (C)
 City of Elko Code 3-2-17 Traffic, Access, Parking and Loading Regulations
 City of Elko Code 3-2-18 Conditional Use Permits
 City of Elko Code 3-8 Flood Plain Management

Background Information

 The application for the Conditional Use Permit (CUP) was filed as required under City
Code 3-2-10 (B) 4 & 8.

 The area is currently zoned General Commercial
 The area is located at the intersection of 12th Street and Opal Drive



CUP 3-19
Elite Storage and RV, LLC
APN: 001-630-056

Page 3 of 7

 The applicant was previously approved a CUP 3-17 on July 18, 2017 for the development
of storage units.  The applicant is proposing an additional 2 buildings to the property as
well as a modification to the approved screen wall between the residential and the
commercial uses.

 The property is not located in the Redevelopment Area.

MASTER PLAN

Land Use
1. The Master Plan Land Use Atlas shows the area as Commercial General.
2. C- General Commercial is listed as a corresponding zoning district for Commercial

General in the Master Plan Land Use.
3. The listed Goal of the Land Use component states “Promote orderly, sustainable growth

and efficient land use to improve quality of life and ensure new development meets the
needs of all residents and visitors”.

4. Objective 4: Consider a mixed-use pattern of development for the downtown area, and for
major centers and corridors, to ensure the area’s adaptability, longevity, and overall
sustainability.

5. Objective 6: Encourage multiple scales of commercial development to serve the needs of
the region, the community, and that of individual neighborhoods.

6. Objective 8: Ensure that new development does not negatively impact County-wide
natural systems, or public/federal lands such as waterways, wetlands, drainages,
floodplains etc., or pose a danger to human health and safety.

The conditional use is in conformance with the Land Use Component of the Master Plan.

Transportation

1. The area will be accessed from Opal Drive.
2. The site has pedestrian access along 12th Street and Opal Drive.
3. The existing property meets the goals listed in the Master Plan Transportation Document

as Best Practice Objective 1; Provide a balanced transportation system that accommodates
vehicle, bicycles, and pedestrians, while being sensitive to, and supporting the adjacent
land uses.

The conditional use is in conformance with the Transportation Component of the Master Plan and
existing transportation infrastructure.

ELKO WELLHEAD PROTECTION PLAN

 Most of the property is located outside the 30-year capture zone for several City wells.

SECTION 3-2-3 GENERAL PROVISIONS

 Section 3-2-3 (C) 1 of City code specifies use restrictions. The following use restrictions
shall apply.



CUP 3-19
Elite Storage and RV, LLC
APN: 001-630-056

Page 4 of 7

1. Principal Uses: Only those uses and groups of uses specifically designated as
“principal uses permitted’ in zoning district regulations shall be permitted as
principal uses; all other uses shall be prohibited as principal uses

2. Conditional Uses: Certain specified uses designated as “conditional uses
permitted” may be permitted as principal uses subject to special conditions of
location, design, construction, operation and maintenance hereinafter specified in
this chapter or imposed by the planning commission or city council.

3. Accessory Uses: Uses normally accessory and incidental to permitted principal or
conditional uses may be permitted as hereinafter specified.

Other uses may apply under certain conditions with application to the City.

 Section 3-2-3(D) states that “No land may be used or structure erected where the land is
held by the planning commission to be unsuitable for such use or structure by reason of
flooding, concentrated runoff, inadequate drainage, adverse soil or rock formation,
extreme topography, low bearing strength, erosion susceptibility, or any other features
likely to be harmful to the health, safety and general welfare of the community. The
planning commission, in applying the provisions of this section, shall state in writing the
particular facts upon which its conclusions are based. The applicant shall have the right to
present evidence contesting such determination to the city council if he or she so desires,
whereupon the city council may affirm, modify or withdraw the determination of
unsuitability.”

The proposed use is required to have an approval as a conditional use to be in conformance with
ECC 3-2-3 as required in ECC 3-2-10(B).

SECTION 3-2-3(J)

Required Screen Walls: Under certain conditions, the planning commission may require screen
walls to separate incompatible uses; e.g., separation of abutting or industrial uses and residential
uses.

The existing site layout and development includes a separation between the proposed 8’ high
screen fence and the property line abutting the development to the east and the 8’ high screen
fence along the property line abutting the residential properties to the northeast.

A screen wall 8’ tall was originally approved with CUP 3-17. The owner has installed the 8’ tall
solid wall along 12th Street and Opal Drive and is proposing a screen fence with solid slats, 95%
blockage along the northeast and east property lines.

The Planning Commission is required to determine if a screen wall or screen fencing is necessary
and approve of the type of screening if proposed.

SECTION 3-2-4 ESTABLISHMENT OF ZONING DISTRICTS

1. Section 3-2-4(B)  Required Conformity To District Regulations: The regulations set forth
in this chapter for each zoning district shall be minimum regulations and shall apply
uniformly to each class or kind of structure or land, except as provided in this subsection.



CUP 3-19
Elite Storage and RV, LLC
APN: 001-630-056

Page 5 of 7

2. Section 3-2-4(B)(4) stipulates that no yard or lot existing on the effective date hereof shall
be reduced in dimension or area below the minimum requirements set forth in this title.

The proposed use is in conformance with Elko City Code 3-2-4.

SECTION 3-2-10 COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS

1. Section 3-2-10(B)(4) Commercial Storage Units are listed as a permitted conditional use.
2. Section 3-2-10(B)(8) Commercial Zone Abutting Residential Zone: A conditional use

permit pursuant to section 3-2-18 of this chapter is required for every new development on
a lot or parcel in the C general commercial zoning district which abuts a residential zoning
district. All such developments are subject to the screen wall requirements set forth in
subsection 3-2-3J of this chapter.

3. Height Restrictions: All structures within the C general commercial zoning district must
comply with the height and other requirements of the current city airport master plan, to
the extent the plan applies to that location.

4. The property does abut a residential zone so therefore is subject to the screen wall
requirements set forth in subsection 3-2-3(J).

5. Development of the property is required to be in conformance with City code and
conditions for the CUP.

The proposed use is in conformance with Elko City Code 3-2-10.

SECTION 3-2-17 TRAFFIC, ACCESS, PARKING AND LOADING REGULATIONS

 Conformance with this section is required. The current facility is in conformance and will
be evaluated with plan submittal for the expanded uses.

The proposed use conforms to section 3-2-17 of Elko city code.

SECTION 3-2-18 CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS

General Regulations:

1. Certain uses of land within designated zoning districts shall be permitted as principal uses
only upon issuance of a conditional use permit. Subject to the requirements of this chapter,
other applicable chapters, and where applicable to additional standards established by the
Planning Commission, or the City Council, a conditional use permit for such uses may be
issued.

2. Every conditional use permit issued, including a permit for a mobile home park, shall
automatically lapse and be of no effect one (1) year from the date of its issue unless the
permit holder is actively engaged in developing the specific property to the use for which
the permit was issued.

3. Every conditional use permit issued shall be personal to the permittee and applicable only
to the specific use and to the specific property for which it is issued. However, the
Planning Commission may approve the transfer of the conditional use permit to another
owner. Upon issuance of an occupancy permit for the conditional use, signifying that all
zoning and site development requirements imposed in connection with the permit have
been satisfied, the conditional use permit shall thereafter be transferable and shall run with
the land, whereupon the maintenance or special conditions imposed by the permit, as well
as compliance with other provisions of the zoning district, shall be the responsibility of the
property owner.



CUP 3-19
Elite Storage and RV, LLC
APN: 001-630-056

Page 6 of 7

4. Conditional use permits shall be reviewed from time to time by City personnel.
Conditional use permits may be formally reviewed by the Planning Commission. In the
event that any or all of the conditions of the permit or this chapter are not adhered to, the
conditional use permit will be subject to revocation.

SECTION 3-8 FLOOD PLAIN MANAGEMENT

1. The parcel is not located within a designated flood plain.

FINDINGS

1. The proposed development is in conformance with the Land Use component of the Master
Plan

2. The proposed development is in conformance with the existing transportation
infrastructure and the Transportation component of the Master Plan

3. The site is suitable for the proposed use.
4. The proposed development is in conformance with the City Wellhead Protection Program.
5. The proposed use is consistent with surrounding land uses.
6. The proposed use is in conformance with City Code 3-2-10 (B) General Commercial with

the approval of the Condition Use Permit
7. The proposed development is in conformance with 3-2-3, 3-2-4, 3-2-17, 3-8 and 3-2-18 of

the Elko City Code.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends APPROVAL of CUP 3-19 with the following conditions:

1. The conditional use permit is granted to the property owner allowing for the
development of commercial storage units.

2. The permit shall be personal to the property owner and applicable only to the specific
use and to the specific property for which it is issued. However, the Planning
Commission may approve the transfer of the conditional use permit to another owner.
Upon issuance of an occupancy permit for the conditional use, signifying that all
zoning and site development requirements imposed in connection with the permit have
been satisfied, the conditional use permit shall thereafter be transferable and shall run
with the land, whereupon the maintenance or special conditions imposed by the permit,
as well as compliance with other provisions of the zoning district, shall be the
responsibility of the property owner.

3. The conditional use permit shall automatically lapse and be of no effect one year from
the date of its issue unless the permit holder is actively engaged in developing the
specific property in use for which the permit was issued.

4. Landscaping shall be such that it does not impact sight triangle.
5. Landscaping is required in conformance with City Code. Landscaping of the 12th Street

and Opal Drive right-of-ways is required and may be factored in determining
conformance with the code. All landscaping shall be maintained in a manner acceptable
to the City of Elko at all times.

6. Lighting shall be cutoff and shielded from the residential properties
7. The Conditional Use Permit is to be recorded with the Elko County Recorder within 90

days after the approval of the conditional use permit.
8. Conformance with 9-8 of Elko City Code is required to cutoff peak flow increases in



CUP 3-19
Elite Storage and RV, LLC
APN: 001-630-056

Page 7 of 7

stormwater discharges.
9. Access to the property shall be limited to Opal Drive as shown on the plans.
10. A screen-wall or fencing is required unless determined otherwise by the Planning

Commission. This condition is to be clarified by the Planning Commission on the type
of screen wall or fencing that is necessary and acceptable.

Building Department:
1. The proposed chain link fence will require permit and approval through City of Elko

Building Department.





















MAXLINK PLUS™ SYSTEM
The MaxLink Plus™ system is an evolution from the MaxLink 
Industrial™ system, for those situations where a greater degree 
of privacy or screening is desired. Much like the MaxLink 
Industrial™ system, this product utilizes the same unique and 
efficient system of combining the chain link wire and the Slat 
Warehouse MAX2900 slat as a complete package – no need 
for using labor to stretch the wire and then hand-insert each 
individual slat. Stretch the wire… and the job is done.

Using a state-of-the-art high-speed Bergandi 
weaving/insertion machine, Slat Warehouse 
can weave the specified wire in a 3.5” x 5” 
mesh, then mechanically insert and secure 
each slat to the wire with a stainless-steel 
staple, which holds the slat level and secure for 
years to come.

The slat used in the MaxLink Plus™ system is a double-wall, 
flat tubular extrusion 2.880” wide with three internal support 
legs for strength and structure, and the addition of specifically 
angled ‘fins’ on each side, designed to mold around the chain 
link knuckle and give up to 98% sight blockage. The slat used 
in the MaxLink Plus™ system is also formulated using High 
Density Polyethylene (HDPE), combined with additives to 
ensure color and functionality for many years of protection 
from exposure to the ultra-violet impact of the sun.

SKY BLUE BROWN BLACK BEIGE

*Exact representation of slat colors in printing is difficult. Please refer to actual color samples for final matching

REDWOOD GREEN WHITE GRAY ROYAL BLUE

9 Gauge 10 Gauge 11 Gauge

8 Gauge Finish
9 Gauge Core – Class 2B

Vinyl Coated Wire  
The MaxLink Plus™ 
system can also be 
woven into 7 different 
wire colors in multiple 
wire sizes

Vinyl Coated Wire Thickness Options
9 Gauge Finish
10 Gauge Core – Class 2B

• Heights – Available in standard heights of 3’, 4’, 5’, 6’, 7’, 8’, 
10’, 12’ 

• Packaging – The MaxLink Plus™ system is produced in a 
minimum increment of 25’ rolls, and 5’ increments thereafter. 
Up to 9 rolls can be packaged per pallet.

• Warranty – For details on the limited 15-year warranty for 
the MaxLink Plus™ system, please contact Slat Warehouse 
directly or refer to www.slatwarehouse.com.

• Wire Options

 Galvanized Wire – The MaxLink Plus™ system can be 
produced using three options of GBW (Galvanized Before 
Weaving) wire. All of our galvanized wire is manufactured 
with 1.2 oz. (per square foot) of a protective zinc coating.



OPAL DRIVE

WM

BUILDING 3

BUILDING 4

BUILDING 7

BUILDING 6

BUILDING 5

BUILDING 1

BUILDING 2

±150'

±150'

±7
2'

±30'

±4
0'

±2
7'±25'

±3
0'±95'

±9
7'

±10,800 sf

±12,090 sf

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS PER CITY OF ELKO CODE 3-2-10 B. 2. FOR 
COMMERCIAL ZONE.

(2). LANDSCAPE AREA SHALL BE PROVIDED IN AN AMOUNT EQUAL TO 
FIFTEEN PERCENT (15%) OF THE SURFACE AREA OF THE DEVELOPED
PORTION OF THE PROPERTY FOR LOT SIZES ONE ACRE OR GREATER

TOTAL SITE DEVELOPED PORTION IS 6.455 ACRES AT 15% LANDSCAPE 
TOTAL LANDSCAPE AREA REQUIRED = 0.968 ACRES
TOTAL LANDSCAPE AREA PROVIDED = 0.999 ACRES ON SITE AND ROW

LANDSCAPING TABLE

SHEET

OF

VERT:

SCALE
HORIZ:

D
AT

E
R

EV
D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N

D
AT

E:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y:

D
ES

IG
N

 B
Y:

JO
B 

N
O

:

EL
KO

, N
EV

AD
A

EL
IT

E 
ST

O
R

AG
E 

& 
R

.V
.

D
W

G
 N

O
:

LL
C

03
-2

01
7

20
17

-0
6

LL
C

LL
C

02
-1

0-
19

1" = 30'
N/A

C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
AL

 U
SE

 S
IT

E 
PL

AN

30 0 30 60 90 120

SCALE: 1"=30'

PARKING REQUIREMENTS PER CITY OF ELKO CODE 3-2-17 F.

TOTAL STANDARD SPACES REQUIRED =
1 ONE PER 300 S.F. OF OFFICE AREA (1,200 S.F.) = 4 SPACES
TOTAL STANDARD SPACES REQUIRE = 4 SPACES
TOTAL SITE STANDARD SPACES PROVIDED = 6 SPACES

TOTAL ACCESSIBLE SPACES REQUIRED = 1 SPACE
TOTAL ACCESSIBLE SPACES PROVIDED = 1 SPACE (VAN ACCESSIBLE)

PARKING TABLE

1
1

LEGEND

N
PROJECT INFORMATION

02-10-19

1. ZONING: C (COMMERCIAL)

2. SET BACKS - NONE FOR COMMERCIAL ZONE BUT
BUILDINGS WILL BE LOCATED OUTSIDE OF EASEMENTS.

2. APN = 001-630-056

3. PARCEL ADDRESS = 1500 OPAL DRIVE, ELKO, NV 89801

4. LEGAL DESCRIPTION = PARCEL NO. 4 OF FILE NO. 419689
IN THE OFFICEOF THE ELKO COUNTY RECORDER.

5. TOTAL AREA OF PARCEL IS 6.615 ACRES.

(801) 372-0220

LINDON, UTAH 82042
45 TETON DRIVE

DEVELOPER-OWNER

CONTACT: DAVE MITTON

ELITE STORAGE AND RV, LLC



5.2 5.1 5.0 4.2 4.1 3.8 3.7 3.6 3.5 3.4 3.3 3.2 3.1 3.0 2.9 2.8 2.7 2.6 2.5 2.4 2.3 2.2 2.1 2.0 1.3 1.2 1.1 1.0

96'-2" Top of Footing

100'-0" Top of Main Level
/ Foundation

107'-0" Top of Door

111'-4" Top of Windows

120'-7 5/8" Top of Wall

106'-11 3/8" Top of Door 106'-6 7/8" Top of Door 106'-1 3/4" Top of Door

31/64" [ 4% ]
12

03

04

01

02

03 03

01

02 02 02

06

06

06

06

06

06 06 06 06 06 06 06 06 06 06 06 06 06 06

07

07 07

07
07

07

07

07

07
07

07 07

08

10 10 10 10 10 10

09 09 09

 12'-3/8" x 8'-4 1/2"
 FIXED

 30 70  40 70 5'-3/16"x7'-0"
 Overhead

 40 70  40 70
 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 8'-7 13/16"x7'-0"
 Overhead  88 70

 Overhead
 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 5'-8 3/16"x7'-0"
 Overhead

P.0 N.0 M.0 L.0 K.0 J.0 H.0 G.0 F.0 E.0 D.0 C.0 B.0 A.0

96'-2" Top of Footing

100'-0" Top of Main
Level / Foundation

108'-0" Top of Door

111'-4" Top of Windows

120'-7 5/8" Top of
Parapet Wall

04

01

02

01

06

06

06

07

07

08

10

11

12

 17'-4 3/8" x 9'-8 1/2"
 FIXED

 9'-4 3/8" x 8'-4 1/2"
 FIXED

 9'-4 3/8" x 8'-4 1/2"
 FIXED

 64 80
 DBL

 17'-4 3/8" x 9'-8 1/2"
 FIXED

 13'-4" x 11'-4"
 FIXED

B.0 C.0 D.0 E.0 F.0 G.0 H.0 J.0 K.0 L.0 M.0 N.0 P.0A.0

96'-2" Top of
Footing

100'-0" Top of
Foundation

115'-3 5/8" Top
of Parapet Wall

120'-7 5/8" Top
of Parapet Wall

109'-3 5/8" Top of Wall

0.5 [ 4.17% ]
12

01

02

01

02
06

06

06

07
07

07

07
07

07

08

10

0303

05

11

12

09

1.0 1.1 1.2 1.3 2.0 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9 3.0 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 4.0 4.1 4.2 5.0 5.1

96'-2" Top of Footing

100'-0" Top of Main Level 
/ Foundation

111'-4" Top of Window

120'-9 1/4" Top of Parapet
Wall

115'-3 5/8" Top of Parapet Wall 31/64" [ 4% ]
12 04

01

02

01

020202

06
05

12
1010 1010 1010 10

0505
060606

11

 13'-4 3/8" x 9'-8 1/2"
 FIXED

1. Proposed Grade - See Civil Drawings
2. Metal Drip Edge
 - As Selected by Owner & Install as per MFG Specs
3. Standing Seam Metal Roofing by Other
 - As Selected by Owner & Install as per MFG Specs
 - See Metal Building Drawings & Specifications 
4. Signage by Other
 - As Selected by Owner & Install as per MFG Specs
5. Metal Panel Siding
 - As Selected by Owner & Install as per MFG Specs
6. 7-5/8"x7-5/8"x15-5/8" CMU Wall
 - Stacked Bond Pattern
 - Masonry Contractor to Provide Transparent Seal Coating for
 All Exterior Surfaces of Masonry
 - As Selected by Owner & Install as per MFG Specs
7. Gutter w/ Downspout by Other
 - As Selected by Owner & Install as per MFG Specs
 - See Metal Building Drawings & Specifications
 - Contractor to Provide Heat Trace System as Required &

Provide UL Documentation of Heat Trace System.
 - Drains, Sizes & Install as per Roof System MFG & Specs
8. Auxillary Scupper by Other
 - As Selected by Owner & Install as per MFG Specs
 - Contractor to Provide Heat Trace System as Required &

Provide UL Documentation of Heat Trace System.
 - Drains, Sizes & Install as per Roof System MFG & Specs
9. Rooftop Unit - See Mechanical Drawings
10. Foundation Wall w/ Hardcoat Plaster Finish
 - Plaster As Selected by Owner & Install as per MFG Specs
11. Power Meter
 - Coordinate w/ Power Company for Final Location
12. Gas Meter - Coordinate w/ Gas Company for Final Location

BUILDING - 1 ELEVATIONS
Keynotes:

0 4' 8' 16'

Scale:  1/8"   =    1'-0" 1A
BLDG-1 - [ EAST ELEVATION ]

0 4' 8' 16'

Scale:  1/8"   =    1'-0" 3A
BLDG-1 - [ SOUTH ELEVATION ]

0 4' 8' 16'

Scale:  1/8"   =    1'-0" 2A
BLDG-1 - [ NORTH ELEVATION ]

0 4' 8' 16'

Scale:  1/8"   =    1'-0" 1A
BLDG-1 - [ WEST ELEVATION ]

C-
19

80
0A

-1
7_

EL
IT

E 
ST

OR
A

GE
 +

 R
V_

PH
A

SE
 II

_
SD

_
20

18
-0

1-
23

 
 

2/
12

/2
01

9 
9:

38
 A

M
 

 
BI

M
 S

er
ve

r: 
AR

CF
LO

-S
er

ve
r 

- B
IM

 S
er

ve
r 

21
/C

-1
98

00
A-

17
_

EL
IT

E 
ST

OR
A

GE
 +

 R
V_

PH
A

SE
 II

_S
D

_2
01

8-
01

-2
3

E:  projects@arcflo.comF:  801  320  9774T:  801  320  9773

SALT LAKE CITY
228 EAST 500 SOUTH, SUITE 101
84111, UTAH

© 2019 ARCFLO A 201
ILLUSTRATIONS, LAYOUTS AND CALCULATIONS SHOWN ARE BASED ON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED AND OBTAINED TO DATE. THIS INFORMATION IS PRELIMINARY AND CONCEPTUAL AND MAY VARY THROUGHOUT THE PROJECT. PRESENTED INFORMATION IS NOT INTENDED TO REPRESENT FINAL CONSTRUCTION OUTCOME OR RESULTS.

a visionary design firm

ARCFLO

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS _ BLDG - 1

2/12/2019

ELITE STORAGE & RV



7.0 6.0 5.0 4.9 4.8 4.7 4.6 4.5 4.4 4.3 4.2 4.1 4.0 3.0 2.0 1.0 1.0 1.0

97'-0 1/2" Top of Footing

99'-10 1/2" Top of Foundation
100'-0" Top of Floor Slab

109'-3 5/8" Top of Wall

 36 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead  36 70

 88 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead

J.0 H.0 G.0 F.0 E.0 D.0 C.0 B.1 B.0 A.2 A.1 A.0

97'-0 1/2" Top of Footing

99'-10 1/2" Top of Foundation
100'-0" Top of Floor Slab

111'-7 1/8" Top of Wall

109'-3 5/8" Top of Wall

0.5 [ 4.17% ]
12

0.5 [ 4.17% ]
12

0.5 [ 4.17% ]
12

 60 70 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

A.0 A.1 A.2 B.0 B.1 C.0 D.0 E.0 F.0 G.0 H.0 J.0

97'-0 1/2" Top of Footing

99'-10 1/2" Top of Foundation
100'-0" Top of Floor Slab

109'-3 5/8" Top of Wall

111'-7 1/8" Top of Wall
110'-6 5/8" Top of Wall

111'-7 1/8" Top of Wall

0.5 [ 4.17% ]
12

0.5 [ 4.17% ]
12

0.5 [ 4.17% ]
12

1.0 1.0 1.0 2.0 3.0 4.0 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9 5.0 6.0 7.0

97'-0 1/2" Top of Footing

99'-10 1/2" Top of Foundation
100'-0" Top of Floor Slab

109'-3 5/8" Top of Wall

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 36 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead

 88 80
 Overhead  36 70

0 4' 8' 16'

Scale:  1/8"   =    1'-0" 2A
BLDG-8 - [ EAST ELEVATION ]

BLDG - 8: SOUTH WEST PERSPECTIVE

0 4' 8' 16'

Scale:  1/8"   =    1'-0" 1B
BLDG-8 - [ SOUTH ELEVATION ]

0 4' 8' 16'

Scale:  1/8"   =    1'-0" 1A
BLDG-8 - [ NORTH ELEVATION ]

0 4' 8' 16'

Scale:  1/8"   =    1'-0" 3A
BLDG-8 - [ WEST ELEVATION ]

BLDG - 8: NORTH EAST PERSPECTIVE

C-
19

80
0A

-1
7_

EL
IT

E 
ST

OR
A

GE
 +

 R
V_

PH
A

SE
 II

_
SD

_
20

18
-0

1-
23

 
 

2/
12

/2
01

9 
9:

38
 A

M
 

 
BI

M
 S

er
ve

r: 
AR

CF
LO

-S
er

ve
r 

- B
IM

 S
er

ve
r 

21
/C

-1
98

00
A-

17
_

EL
IT

E 
ST

OR
A

GE
 +

 R
V_

PH
A

SE
 II

_S
D

_2
01

8-
01

-2
3

E:  projects@arcflo.comF:  801  320  9774T:  801  320  9773

SALT LAKE CITY
228 EAST 500 SOUTH, SUITE 101
84111, UTAH

© 2019 ARCFLO A 202
ILLUSTRATIONS, LAYOUTS AND CALCULATIONS SHOWN ARE BASED ON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED AND OBTAINED TO DATE. THIS INFORMATION IS PRELIMINARY AND CONCEPTUAL AND MAY VARY THROUGHOUT THE PROJECT. PRESENTED INFORMATION IS NOT INTENDED TO REPRESENT FINAL CONSTRUCTION OUTCOME OR RESULTS.

a visionary design firm

ARCFLO

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS _ BLDG - 8

2/12/2019

ELITE STORAGE & RV



7.0 6.1 6.0 5.5 5.4 5.3 5.2 5.1 5.0 4.5 4.4 4.3 4.2 4.1 4.0 3.0 2.0 1.0

97'-0 1/2" Top of Footing

99'-10 1/2" Top of Foundation
100'-0" Top of Floor Slab

109'-3 5/8" Top of Wall

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 36 70 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

J.0 H.0 G.0 F.0 1.0 E.0 1.0 D.0 C.0 B.0 A.0

97'-0 1/2" Top of Footing

99'-10 1/2" Top of Foundation
100'-0" Top of Floor Slab

109'-3 5/8" Top of Wall

0.5 [ 4.17% ]
12

0.5 [ 4.17% ]
12

 60 70

A.0 B.0 C.0 D.0 1.0 E.0 1.0 F.0 G.0 H.0 J.0

97'-0 1/2" Top of Footing

99'-10 1/2" Top of Foundation
100'-0" Top of Floor Slab

109'-3 5/8" Top of Wall

0.5 [ 4.17% ]
12

0.5 [ 4.17% ]
12

1.0 2.0 3.0 4.0 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 5.0 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 6.0 6.1 7.0

97'-0 1/2" Top of Footing

99'-10 1/2" Top of Foundation
100'-0" Top of Floor Slab

109'-3 5/8" Top of Wall

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 36 70  88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

 88 70
 Overhead

0 4' 8' 16'

Scale:  1/8"   =    1'-0" 2A
BLDG-9 - [ EAST ELEVATION ]

BLDG - 9: SOUTH WEST PERSPECTIVE

0 4' 8' 16'

Scale:  1/8"   =    1'-0" 1B
BLDG-9 - [ SOUTH ELEVATION ]

0 4' 8' 16'

Scale:  1/8"   =    1'-0" 1A
BLDG-9 - [ NORTH ELEVATION ]

0 4' 8' 16'

Scale:  1/8"   =    1'-0" 3A
BLDG-9 - [ WEST ELEVATION ]

BLDG - 9: NORTH EAST PERSPECTIVE

C-
19

80
0A

-1
7_

EL
IT

E 
ST

OR
A

GE
 +

 R
V_

PH
A

SE
 II

_
SD

_
20

18
-0

1-
23

 
 

2/
12

/2
01

9 
9:

38
 A

M
 

 
BI

M
 S

er
ve

r: 
AR

CF
LO

-S
er

ve
r 

- B
IM

 S
er

ve
r 

21
/C

-1
98

00
A-

17
_

EL
IT

E 
ST

OR
A

GE
 +

 R
V_

PH
A

SE
 II

_S
D

_2
01

8-
01

-2
3

E:  projects@arcflo.comF:  801  320  9774T:  801  320  9773

SALT LAKE CITY
228 EAST 500 SOUTH, SUITE 101
84111, UTAH

© 2019 ARCFLO A 203
ILLUSTRATIONS, LAYOUTS AND CALCULATIONS SHOWN ARE BASED ON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED AND OBTAINED TO DATE. THIS INFORMATION IS PRELIMINARY AND CONCEPTUAL AND MAY VARY THROUGHOUT THE PROJECT. PRESENTED INFORMATION IS NOT INTENDED TO REPRESENT FINAL CONSTRUCTION OUTCOME OR RESULTS.

a visionary design firm

ARCFLO

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS _ BLDG - 9

2/12/2019

ELITE STORAGE & RV



Agenda Item # I.B.1 

Created on 1/23/2017  Planning Commission Action Sheet 

Elko City Planning Commission 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 

1. Review, consideration and possible approval of Final Plat No. 14-18, filed by 

Jordanelle Third Mortgage, LLC, for the development of a subdivision entitled 

Tower Hill Unit 2 involving the proposed division of approximately 17.05 acres of 

property into 23 lots and 1 remainder parcel for residential development within the 

R1 (Single Family Residential) Zoning District, and matters related thereto. FOR 

POSSIBLE ACTION 

 

2. Meeting Date:  March 5, 2019 

 

3. Agenda Category: MISC. ITEMS, PETITIONS, AND COMMUNICATIONS  

 

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

 

5. Background Information: Subject property is located southwest of the terminus of 

Deerfield Way and Chukar Drive.  (APN 001-929-124).  

 

6. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

 

7. Supplemental Agenda Information: Application, Staff Report 

 

8. Recommended Motion: Recommend to City Council to conditionally approve Final 

Plat 14-18 with conditions listed in Staff Report dated February 25, 2019. 

 

9. Findings: See Staff Report dated February 25, 2019 

 

10. Prepared By: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 

 

11. Agenda Distribution:  Jordanelle Third Mortgage, LLC 

Scott MacRitchie 

312 Four Mile Trail 

Elko, NV 89801 

 

High Desert Engineering 

640 Idaho Street 

Elko, NV 89801 

 





Page 1 of 8

CITY OF ELKO STAFF REPORT

DATE: February 25, 2019
PLANNING COMMISSION DATE: March 5, 2019
AGENDA ITEM NUMBER: I.B.1
APPLICATION NUMBER: Final Plat 14-18
APPLICANT: Jordanelle Third Mortgage, LLC
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: Tower Hills Subdivision Unit 2 at the end of

Stitzel Road above Lamoille Highway and
Powder House Road

A Final Map for the division of approximately 17.05 acres into 23 lots for single family
residential development within an R1 (Single Family Residential) Zoning District and one
remaining lot.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

RECOMMEND to APPROVE this item subject to findings of fact and conditions.

City of Elko
1751 College Avenue

Elko, NV  89801
(775) 777-7160

FAX (775) 777-7119



FINAL PLAT 14-18
Tower Hills Subdivision Unit 2
APN: 001-929-124

Page 2 of 8

PROJECT INFORMATION

PARCEL NUMBERS: 001-929-124

PARCEL SIZE: 17.05 acres for this Unit 2 of the subdivision; the
entire subdivision is 33.804 acres. In Unit 2,
approximately 1.412 acres are offered for
dedication for street development

EXISTING ZONING: (R1) Single Family Residential

MASTER PLAN DESIGNATION: (RES-MD) Residential Medium Density

EXISTING LAND USE: Vacant

NEIGHBORHOOD CHARACTERISTICS:
The property is surrounded by:

 North: Residential / Developed
 East: Elko County Property / Undeveloped
 South: Agriculture (AG) / Undeveloped
 West: Planned Commercial / Undeveloped

PROPERTY CHARACTERISTICS:
 The property is an undeveloped residential parcel.
 This is the second phase of the Tower Hills Subdivision.
 The parcel has challenging topography issues with a substantial grade difference

towards Lamoille Highway.
 Frontage of the Lamoille Highway would be under NDOT jurisdiction.
 A portion of the property is located in the 5600 water zone and therefore cannot

be served at this time by the City of Elko.

MASTER PLAN, COORDINATING PLANS, and CITY CODE SECTIONS:

Applicable Master Plan Sections, Coordinating Plans, and City Code Sections are:

 City of Elko Master Plan – Land Use Component
 City of Elko Master Plan – Transportation Component
 City of Elko Redevelopment Plan
 City of Elko Wellhead Protection Plan
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-2-3 General Provisions
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-2-4 Zoning Districts
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-2-5(B) Single-Family Residential District
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-2-5(G) Residential Zoning Districts Area, Setback And

Height Schedule For Principal Buildings



FINAL PLAT 14-18
Tower Hills Subdivision Unit 2
APN: 001-929-124

Page 3 of 8

 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-8 Flood Plain Management
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-2-17 Traffic, Access, Parking and Loading Regulations
 City of Elko Zoning – Chapter 3 Subdivisions

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

1. The City Council accepted the Preliminary Plat at its meeting on October 24, 2017.
2. The subdivision is located on APN 001-929-125, shown as parcel A on map 741117

recorded at the Elko County Recorder’s Office.
3. The application is for a total of 23 lots. The proposed density is 4.69 units per acre.
4. The total subdivided area is approximately 17.05 acres in size with 6.315 of that divided

into 23 lots for Unit 2 with 1 remaining lot.
5. Approximately 1.412 acres are offered for dedication for street development.
6. The property is located off Lamoille Highway, NDOT jurisdiction and at the end of

Stitzel Road.
7. Preliminary Plat was approved by City Council on October 24, 2017.

MASTER PLAN:

1. Conformance with the Land Use component of the Master Plan was evaluated with
review and approval of the Preliminary Plat. The Final Plat is in conformance with the
Preliminary Plat.

2. Conformance with the Transportation component of the Master Plan was evaluated with
review and approval of the Preliminary Plat. The Final Plat is in conformance with the
Preliminary Plat.

The subdivision is in conformance with the Land Use and Transportation components of the
Master Plan.

ELKO REDEVELOPMENT PLAN:

1. The property is not located within the Redevelopment Area.

ELKO WELLHEAD PROTECTION PLAN:

1. The property lies outside any capture zone for the City of Elko.

SECTIONS 3-2-3, 3-2-4, 3-2-5(E), 3-2-5(G) and 3-2-17

1. The proposed subdivision was evaluated for conformance to the referenced sections of
code during the preliminary plat process.

The proposed development conforms to Sections 3-2-3, 3-2-4, 3-2-5(B), 3-2-5(G) and 3-2-17 of
city code.



FINAL PLAT 14-18
Tower Hills Subdivision Unit 2
APN: 001-929-124

Page 4 of 8

SECTION 3-3-7 FINAL MAP STAGE (STAGE III)

Requirements for Presentation of Final Map or Series of Final Maps (B)(1) – The subdivider
shall present to the City Council on or before the second anniversary of the date on which the
subdivider recorded the first in the series of final maps: (I) a final map, prepared in accordance
with the tentative map, for the entire area for which the tentative map has been approved; or (II)
the next final map in the series of final maps covering a portion of the approved tentative map. If
the subdivider fails to comply with the provisions of the preceding sentence, all proceedings
concerning the subdivision are terminated. Unit 1 Final Map was recorded on May 23, 2018.

Pre-submission Requirements (C)(1) – The Final Plat is in conformance with the zone
requirements.

Pre-submission Requirements (C)(2) – The proposed final plat conforms to the preliminary
plat.

Utility Easements (D) – The affidavit has been provided on the final map for the utility
companies.

SECTION 3-3-8 CONTENT AND FORMAT OF FINAL MAP SUBMITTAL

A. Form and Content-The final plat conforms to the required size specifications and
provides the appropriate affidavits and certifications.

B. Identification Data
1. The subdivision map identified the subdivision, and provides its location by

section, township, range and county.
2. The subdivision map was prepared by a properly licensed surveyor.
3. The subdivision map provides a scale, north point, and date of preparation.

C. Survey Data
1. The boundaries of the tract are fully balanced and closed.
2. All exceptions are noted on the plat.
3. The location and description of cardinal points are tied to a section corner.
4. The location and description of any physical encroachments upon the boundary of

the tract are noted on the plat.
D. Descriptive Data

1. The name, right of way lines, courses, lengths and widths of all streets and
easements are noted on the plat.

2. All drainage ways are noted on the plan.
3. All utility and public service easements are noted on the plat.
4. The location and dimensions of all lots, parcels and exceptions are shown on the

plat.
5. All residential lots are numbered consecutively on the plat.
6. There is no public drainage dedicated to the public shown on the plat.
7. The location of adjoining subdivisions are noted on the plat with required

information.
8. There are no deed restrictions proposed.

E. Dedication and Acknowledgment
1. The owner’s certificate has the required dedication information for all easements

and right of ways.
2. The execution of dedication is acknowledged and certified by a notary public.

F. Additional Information
1. All centerline monuments for streets are noted as being set on the plat.



FINAL PLAT 14-18
Tower Hills Subdivision Unit 2
APN: 001-929-124

Page 5 of 8

2. The centerline and width of each right of way is noted on the plat.
3. The plat indicates the location of monuments that will be set to determine the

boundaries of the subdivision.
4. The length and bearing of each lot line is identified on the plat.
5. The city boundary adjoining the subdivision is identified on the plat.
6. The plat identifies the location of the section lines.

G. City to Check
1. The City shall check the final map for accuracy of dimensions, placement of

monuments, the establishment of survey records, and conformance with the
tentative map.

a) Closure calculations have been provided.
b) Construction plans have been provided.
c) Construction plans for manholes, catch basins and other appurtenant

structures have been submitted.
d) An engineer’s estimate has been provided.

2. It appears the lot closures are within the required tolerances.
H. Required certifications

1. The Owner’s Certificate is shown on the final plat.
2. The Owner’s Certificate offers for dedication all right of ways shown on the plat.
3. A Clerk Certificate is shown on the final plat, certifying the signature of the City

Council.
4. The Owner’s Certificate offers for dedication all easements shown on the plat.
5. A Surveyor’s Certificate is shown on the plat and provides the required language.
6. The City Engineer’s Certificate is listed on the plat.
7. A certificate from the Nevada Division of Environmental Protection is provided

with the required language.
8. A copy of review by the state engineer is not available at this time.
9. A certificate from the Division of Water Resources is provided on the plat with

the required language.
10. The civil improvement plans identify the required water meters for the

subdivision.

SECTIONS 3-3-9 through 3-3-16 (inclusive)

1. The proposed subdivision was evaluated for conformance to the referenced sections of
code during the preliminary plat process.

The proposed development conforms to Sections 3-3-20 through 3-3-27 (inclusive).

SECTION 3-3-17-RESPONSIBILITY FOR IMPROVEMENTS

The Subdivider shall be responsible for all required improvements in conformance with Section
3-3-17 of city code.

SECTION 3-3-18 CONSTRUCTION PLANS

The Subdivider has submitted civil improvement plans in conformance with section 3-3-18 of
City code. The plans have been reviewed by city staff. Minor revisions are required as outlined
in the city review letter dated January 4, 2019.

SECTION 3-3-19-CONSTRUCTION AND INSPECTION



FINAL PLAT 14-18
Tower Hills Subdivision Unit 2
APN: 001-929-124

Page 6 of 8

The Subdivider has submitted plans to the city and state agencies for review to receive all
required permits in accordance with the requirements of Section 3-3-19 of city code.

SECTION 3-3-20-REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS

The Subdivider has submitted civil improvement plans which are in conformance with Section 3-
3-20 of city code with the exception noted under 3-3-18.

Civil improvements include curb, gutter and sidewalk, paving and utilities within the Deerfield
Way, Pheasant Drive and Chukar Drive right of way.

SECTION 3-3-21-PEFORMANCE AGREEMENTS

The Subdivider is required to enter into a Performance Agreement to conform to Section 3-3-21
of city code.

SECTION 3-3-22-PERFORMANCE AND MAINTENANCE GUARANTEES

The Subdivider is required to provide a Performance and Maintenance Guarantee as stipulated in
the Performance Agreement in conformance with Section 3-3-22 of city code.

SECTION 3-8

1. The property is not located within a designated flood plain.

FINDINGS

1. The subdivision is in conformance with the Land Use and Transportation components of
the Master Plan.

2. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-2-4-Establishment of Zoning Districts.
3. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-2-5-B R1- Residential Single-Family Zoning

District.
4. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-2-17 Traffic, Access, Parking and Loading

Regulations.
5. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-3-7-Final Map (Stage III).
6. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-3-8-Content and Format of Final Map

Submission.
7. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-3-9-General Provisions for Subdivision

Design.
a. The subdivision does not appear to be unsuitable for use by reason of flooding,

concentrated runoff, inadequate drainage, adverse soil or rock formation, extreme
topography, erosion susceptibility or similar conditions which are likely to prove
harmful to the health and safety and general welfare of the community or the
future property owners.

8. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-3-10-Street Location and Arrangement.
9. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-3-11-Street Design.
10. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-3-12-Block Design.
11. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-3-13-Lot Planning



FINAL PLAT 14-18
Tower Hills Subdivision Unit 2
APN: 001-929-124

Page 7 of 8

12. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-3-14-Easement Planning.
13. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-3-15-Street Naming.
14. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-3-16-Street Lighting Design Standards.
15. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-3-17-Responsibility for Improvements.
16. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-3-18-Construction Plans.
17. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-3-19-Construction and Inspection.
18. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-3-20-Required Improvements.
19. The sub-divider shall enter into a performance agreement to address the conditions found

in 3-3-21-Performance Agreements.
20. The sub-divider shall provide a performance and maintenance guarantee as stipulated in

the performance agreement and 3-3-22-Performance and Maintenance Guarantee.
21. The subdivision is in conformance with 3-8 Floodplain Management.
22. The Final Plat is in conformance with the Preliminary Plat.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends approval of the subdivision based on the following conditions:

1. The Developer shall execute a Performance Agreement in accordance with Section 3-3-
21 of city code. The Performance Agreement shall be secured in accordance with Section
3-3-22 of city code. In conformance with Section 3-3-21 of city code, the public
improvements shall be completed within a time of no later than two (2) years of the date
of Final Plat approval by the City Council unless extended as stipulated in city code.

2. The Performance Agreement shall be approved by the City Council at the time of Final
Map approval by the City Council.

3. The developer shall enter into the Performance Agreement within 30 days of approval of
the final map by City Council.

4. The final map is approved for 23 single family residential lots and 1 remainder lot.
5. The Utility Department will issue a Will Serve Letter.
6. State approvals of the construction plans and final map are required.
7. Update the Treasurer’s jurat to reflect Cheryl Paul instead of Rebecca Erickson.
8. Conformance with Preliminary Plat conditions.
9. Public improvements are required on the State Route 227 frontage or on the south

southwest side of the State Route in accordance with NDOT approval. The extent,
location and type of public improvements will be determined through the review and
approval process for the civil improvement plans.

10. Civil improvements are to comply with Chapter 3-3 of City code.
11. Final approval for construction plans.
12. The Owner/Developer is to provide the appropriate contact information for the qualified

engineer and engineering firm contracted to oversee the project along with the required
inspection and testing necessary to produce an As-Built for submittal to the City of Elko.
The Engineer of Record is to ensure all materials meet the latest edition Standard
Specifications for Public Works. All Right –of-Way and utility improvements are to be
certified by the Engineer of Record for the project.

13. The civil improvement plans are to be revised in accordance with the city review letter
dated January 4, 2019 for review and possible approval. This condition shall be satisfied
prior to consideration of the Final Plat by the City Council.



FINAL PLAT 14-18
Tower Hills Subdivision Unit 2
APN: 001-929-124

Page 8 of 8

14. Construction, with the exception of grading, shall not commence prior to Final plat
approval by the City Council, issuance of a will serve letter by the city and approval of
the civil improvement plans by the State.

Fire Department
1. 2012 IFC D104.3

D107.1 One- or two-family dwelling residential developments.
Developments of one- or two-family dwellings where the number of dwelling units
exceeds 30 shall be provided with two separate and approved fire apparatus access roads,
and shall meet the requirements of Section D104.3.













 
 

LOT CALCULATIONS 
 

FOR 
 

TOWER HILL SUBDIVISION 
UNIT NUMBER 2 
ELKO, NEVADA 

 
 
 

PREPARED FOR: 
 

Jordanelle Third Mortgage, LLC 
312 Four Mile Trail 
Elko, Nevada  89801 

 
Contact: 

Scott MacRitchie 
 (775) 340-6005 

 
 

 
PREPARED BY 

 
HIGH DESERT Engineering 

640 Idaho Street 
Elko, Nevada 

 
February, 2019



page 2 
 

Parcel name: UNIT 2 TOTAL 
 
   North: 12958.928           East : 60886.760        
Line  Course: N 00-04-57 E  Length: 54.01            
        North: 13012.938             East : 60886.837        
Line  Course: N 89-55-03 W  Length: 79.55            
        North: 13013.052             East : 60807.287        
Line  Course: N 63-25-29 W  Length: 49.08            
        North: 13035.009             East : 60763.393        
Line  Course: N 49-26-14 W  Length: 523.39           
        North: 13375.360             East : 60365.777        
Line  Course: N 56-56-14 W  Length: 50.00            
        North: 13402.638             East : 60323.873        
Line  Course: N 49-26-14 W  Length: 37.04            
        North: 13426.724             East : 60295.734        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 39.55            
        North: 13396.678             East : 60270.015        
Curve  Length: 86.32                Radius: 100.00      
        Delta: 49-27-31            Tangent: 46.06            
        Chord: 83.67                Course: S 65-17-32 W 
    Course In: N 49-26-14 W     Course Out: S 00-01-17 W 
    RP  North: 13461.706             East : 60194.046        
    End North: 13361.706             East : 60194.009        
Line  Course: N 89-58-43 W  Length: 72.59            
        North: 13361.734             East : 60121.419        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 215.75           
        North: 13197.830             East : 59981.120        
Curve  Length: 87.57                Radius: 50.00       
        Delta: 100-20-42           Tangent: 59.95            
        Chord: 76.80                Course: S 09-36-35 E 
    Course In: S 49-26-14 E     Course Out: S 30-13-04 W 
    RP  North: 13165.316             East : 60019.105        
    End North: 13122.110             East : 59993.941        
Line  Course: S 30-13-04 W  Length: 100.00           
        North: 13035.698             East : 59943.612        
Line  Course: S 65-50-29 W  Length: 224.78           
        North: 12943.703             East : 59738.519        
Curve  Length: 118.73               Radius: 1900.00     
        Delta: 3-34-49             Tangent: 59.38            
        Chord: 118.71               Course: S 25-56-56 E 
    Course In: N 65-50-29 E     Course Out: S 62-15-40 W 
    RP  North: 13721.305             East : 61472.109        
    End North: 12836.964             East : 59790.461        
Line  Course: N 62-15-39 E  Length: 50.00            
        North: 12860.236             East : 59834.715        
Curve  Length: 190.75               Radius: 1850.00     
        Delta: 5-54-28             Tangent: 95.46            
        Chord: 190.67               Course: S 30-41-34 E 
    Course In: N 62-15-40 E     Course Out: S 56-21-12 W 
    RP  North: 13721.305             East : 61472.109        
    End North: 12696.276             East : 59932.039        
Line  Course: S 33-38-48 E  Length: 266.50           
        North: 12474.423             East : 60079.699        
Line  Course: N 41-54-22 E  Length: 361.39           



page 3 
 

        North: 12743.384             East : 60321.076        
Line  Course: S 48-05-38 E  Length: 100.00           
        North: 12676.593             East : 60395.500        
Line  Course: S 47-34-46 E  Length: 62.86            
        North: 12634.189             East : 60441.904        
Curve  Length: 52.56                Radius: 55.00       
        Delta: 54-45-04            Tangent: 28.48            
        Chord: 50.58                Course: S 12-30-18 E 
    Course In: S 50-07-10 W     Course Out: S 75-07-46 E 
    RP  North: 12598.924             East : 60399.698        
    End North: 12584.809             East : 60452.856        
Line  Course: S 49-52-21 E  Length: 148.59           
        North: 12489.044             East : 60566.469        
Line  Course: S 70-45-36 E  Length: 70.62            
        North: 12465.773             East : 60633.145        
Line  Course: S 82-16-23 E  Length: 93.73            
        North: 12453.171             East : 60726.024        
Line  Course: S 89-55-03 E  Length: 210.00           
        North: 12452.868             East : 60936.024        
Line  Course: N 00-04-57 E  Length: 90.99            
        North: 12543.858             East : 60936.155        
Line  Course: S 89-55-03 E  Length: 105.00           
        North: 12543.707             East : 61041.155        
Line  Course: N 00-04-57 E  Length: 415.00           
        North: 12958.707             East : 61041.752        
Line  Course: N 89-55-03 W  Length: 155.00           
        North: 12958.930             East : 60886.752        
 
   Perimeter: 4111.35   Area: 742,709 SF 17.050 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.007                Course: N 74-37-26 W 
  Error North: 0.0020                East : -0.0071          
Precision  1: 587,335.71       
 
  



page 4 
 

Parcel name: UNIT 2 STREETS 
 
        North: 13195.992             East : 60161.109        
Curve  Length: 31.13                Radius: 175.00      
        Delta: 10-11-37            Tangent: 15.61            
        Chord: 31.09                Course: N 35-27-58 E 
    Course In: S 59-37-51 E     Course Out: N 49-26-14 W 
    RP  North: 13107.517             East : 60312.097        
    End North: 13221.316             East : 60179.150        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 153.39           
        North: 13337.846             East : 60278.897        
Curve  Length: 36.00                Radius: 275.00      
        Delta: 7-30-00             Tangent: 18.02            
        Chord: 35.97                Course: N 36-48-46 E 
    Course In: N 49-26-14 W     Course Out: S 56-56-14 E 
    RP  North: 13516.673             East : 60069.981        
    End North: 13366.644             East : 60300.451        
Line  Course: N 33-03-46 E  Length: 42.95            
        North: 13402.640             East : 60323.883        
Line  Course: S 56-56-14 E  Length: 50.00            
        North: 13375.362             East : 60365.786        
Line  Course: S 33-03-46 W  Length: 42.95            
        North: 13339.367             East : 60342.355        
Curve  Length: 42.54                Radius: 325.00      
        Delta: 7-30-00             Tangent: 21.30            
        Chord: 42.51                Course: S 36-48-46 W 
    Course In: N 56-56-14 W     Course Out: S 49-26-14 E 
    RP  North: 13516.673             East : 60069.981        
    End North: 13305.331             East : 60316.881        
Curve  Length: 23.56                Radius: 15.00       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.00            
        Chord: 21.21                Course: S 04-26-14 E 
    Course In: S 49-26-14 E     Course Out: S 40-33-46 W 
    RP  North: 13295.577             East : 60328.277        
    End North: 13284.182             East : 60318.523        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 496.85           
        North: 12961.090             East : 60695.977        
Curve  Length: 141.30               Radius: 200.00      
        Delta: 40-28-49            Tangent: 73.74            
        Chord: 138.38               Course: S 69-40-38 E 
    Course In: N 40-33-46 E     Course Out: S 00-04-57 W 
    RP  North: 13113.029             East : 60826.033        
    End North: 12913.029             East : 60825.745        
Line  Course: S 89-55-03 E  Length: 45.95            
        North: 12912.963             East : 60871.695        
Curve  Length: 23.56                Radius: 15.00       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.00            
        Chord: 21.21                Course: N 45-04-57 E 
    Course In: N 00-04-57 E     Course Out: S 89-55-03 E 
    RP  North: 12927.963             East : 60871.716        
    End North: 12927.941             East : 60886.716        
Line  Course: N 00-04-57 E  Length: 30.99            
        North: 12958.931             East : 60886.761        
Line  Course: S 89-55-03 E  Length: 50.00            



page 5 
 

        North: 12958.859             East : 60936.761        
Line  Course: S 00-04-57 W  Length: 245.00           
        North: 12713.859             East : 60936.408        
Line  Course: N 89-55-03 W  Length: 50.00            
        North: 12713.931             East : 60886.408        
Line  Course: N 00-04-57 E  Length: 134.01           
        North: 12847.941             East : 60886.601        
Curve  Length: 23.56                Radius: 15.00       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.00            
        Chord: 21.21                Course: N 44-55-03 W 
    Course In: N 89-55-03 W     Course Out: N 00-04-57 E 
    RP  North: 12847.963             East : 60871.601        
    End North: 12862.963             East : 60871.623        
Line  Course: N 89-55-03 W  Length: 45.95            
        North: 12863.029             East : 60825.673        
Curve  Length: 176.63               Radius: 250.00      
        Delta: 40-28-49            Tangent: 92.18            
        Chord: 172.98               Course: N 69-40-38 W 
    Course In: N 00-04-57 E     Course Out: S 40-33-46 W 
    RP  North: 13113.029             East : 60826.033        
    End North: 12923.105             East : 60663.462        
Line  Course: N 49-26-14 W  Length: 496.85           
        North: 13246.197             East : 60286.009        
Curve  Length: 23.56                Radius: 15.00       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.00            
        Chord: 21.21                Course: S 85-33-46 W 
    Course In: S 40-33-46 W     Course Out: N 49-26-14 W 
    RP  North: 13234.802             East : 60276.254        
    End North: 13244.556             East : 60264.859        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 73.39            
        North: 13188.802             East : 60217.135        
Curve  Length: 22.24                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 10-11-37            Tangent: 11.15            
        Chord: 22.21                Course: S 35-27-58 W 
    Course In: S 49-26-14 E     Course Out: N 59-37-51 W 
    RP  North: 13107.517             East : 60312.097        
    End North: 13170.713             East : 60204.248        
Line  Course: N 59-37-51 W  Length: 50.00            
        North: 13195.992             East : 60161.109        
 
   Perimeter: 2552.36   Area: 62,146 SF 1.427 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 57-59-41 W 
  Error North: -0.0000               East : -0.0000          
Precision  1: 2,552,360,000.00 
 
  



page 6 
 

Parcel name: LOT 201 
 
   North: 13375.358           East : 60365.784        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 83.39            
        North: 13321.131             East : 60429.135        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 100.00           
        North: 13245.162             East : 60364.107        
Line  Course: N 49-26-14 W  Length: 60.00            
        North: 13284.179             East : 60318.525        
Curve  Length: 23.56                Radius: 15.00       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.00            
        Chord: 21.21                Course: N 04-26-14 W 
    Course In: N 40-33-46 E     Course Out: N 49-26-14 W 
    RP  North: 13295.574             East : 60328.279        
    End North: 13305.328             East : 60316.884        
Curve  Length: 42.54                Radius: 325.00      
        Delta: 7-30-00             Tangent: 21.30            
        Chord: 42.51                Course: N 36-48-46 E 
    Course In: N 49-26-14 W     Course Out: S 56-56-14 E 
    RP  North: 13516.670             East : 60069.983        
    End North: 13339.363             East : 60342.357        
Line  Course: N 33-03-46 E  Length: 42.95            
        North: 13375.359             East : 60365.789        
 
   Perimeter: 352.44   Area: 7,729 SF 0.177 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.005                Course: N 84-50-14 E 
  Error North: 0.0004                East : 0.0050           
Precision  1: 70,488.00        
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 202 
 
   North: 13245.164           East : 60364.104        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 100.00           
        North: 13321.134             East : 60429.132        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 65.00            
        North: 13278.866             East : 60478.512        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 100.00           
        North: 13202.896             East : 60413.484        
Line  Course: N 49-26-14 W  Length: 65.00            
        North: 13245.164             East : 60364.104        
 
   Perimeter: 330.00   Area: 6,500 SF 0.149 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 75-57-50 E 
  Error North: -0.0000               East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 330,000,000.00   
 
  



page 7 
 

Parcel name: LOT 203 
 
   North: 13202.896           East : 60413.484        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 100.00           
        North: 13278.866             East : 60478.512        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 75.00            
        North: 13230.095             East : 60535.489        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 100.00           
        North: 13154.125             East : 60470.461        
Line  Course: N 49-26-14 W  Length: 75.00            
        North: 13202.896             East : 60413.484        
 
   Perimeter: 350.00   Area: 7,500 SF 0.172 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 75-57-50 E 
  Error North: -0.0000               East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 350,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 204 
 
   North: 13154.125           East : 60470.461        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 100.00           
        North: 13230.095             East : 60535.489        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 75.00            
        North: 13181.323             East : 60592.466        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 100.00           
        North: 13105.354             East : 60527.438        
Line  Course: N 49-26-14 W  Length: 75.00            
        North: 13154.125             East : 60470.461        
 
   Perimeter: 350.00   Area: 7,500 SF 0.172 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 75-57-50 E 
  Error North: -0.0000               East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 350,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 205 
 
   North: 13105.354           East : 60527.438        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 100.00           
        North: 13181.323             East : 60592.466        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 75.00            
        North: 13132.552             East : 60649.443        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 100.00           
        North: 13056.583             East : 60584.415        
Line  Course: N 49-26-14 W  Length: 75.00            
        North: 13105.354             East : 60527.438        
 



page 8 
 

   Perimeter: 350.00   Area: 7,500 SF 0.172 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 75-57-50 E 
  Error North: -0.0000               East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 350,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 206 
 
   North: 13056.583           East : 60584.415        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 100.00           
        North: 13132.552             East : 60649.443        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 75.00            
        North: 13083.781             East : 60706.420        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 100.00           
        North: 13007.812             East : 60641.392        
Line  Course: N 49-26-14 W  Length: 75.00            
        North: 13056.583             East : 60584.415        
 
   Perimeter: 350.00   Area: 7,500 SF 0.172 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 75-57-50 E 
  Error North: -0.0000               East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 350,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 207 
 
   North: 13007.812           East : 60641.392        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 100.00           
        North: 13083.781             East : 60706.420        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 75.00            
        North: 13035.010             East : 60763.397        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 99.98            
        North: 12959.056             East : 60698.382        
Curve  Length: 3.15                 Radius: 200.00      
        Delta: 0-54-07             Tangent: 1.57             
        Chord: 3.15                 Course: N 49-53-17 W 
    Course In: N 39-39-39 E     Course Out: S 40-33-46 W 
    RP  North: 13113.023             East : 60826.030        
    End North: 12961.084             East : 60695.974        
Line  Course: N 49-26-14 W  Length: 71.85            
        North: 13007.807             East : 60641.390        
 
   Perimeter: 349.98   Area: 7,500 SF 0.172 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.005                Course: S 20-27-21 W 
  Error North: -0.0048               East : -0.0018          
Precision  1: 69,996.00         



page 9 
 

Parcel name: LOT 208 
 
   North: 12959.060           East : 60698.385        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 99.98            
        North: 13035.014             East : 60763.400        
Line  Course: S 63-25-29 E  Length: 49.08            
        North: 13013.057             East : 60807.295        
Line  Course: S 10-37-07 W  Length: 98.29            
        North: 12916.450             East : 60789.183        
Curve  Length: 101.38               Radius: 200.00      
        Delta: 29-02-32            Tangent: 51.80            
        Chord: 100.29               Course: N 64-51-37 W 
    Course In: N 10-37-07 E     Course Out: S 39-39-39 W 
    RP  North: 13113.025             East : 60826.037        
    End North: 12959.058             East : 60698.389        
Line  Course: N 72-25-06 E  Length: 67.58            
        North: 12979.471             East : 60762.812        
Line  Course: S 72-25-06 W  Length: 67.58            
        North: 12959.058             East : 60698.389        
 
   Perimeter: 483.88   Area: 7,580 SF 0.174 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: S 62-22-35 E 
  Error North: -0.0018               East : 0.0035           
Precision  1: 120,972.50       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 209 
 
   North: 12916.452           East : 60789.179        
Line  Course: N 10-37-07 E  Length: 98.29            
        North: 13013.059             East : 60807.291        
Line  Course: S 89-55-03 E  Length: 79.55            
        North: 13012.944             East : 60886.841        
Line  Course: S 00-04-57 W  Length: 85.00            
        North: 12927.944             East : 60886.719        
Curve  Length: 23.56                Radius: 15.00       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.00            
        Chord: 21.21                Course: S 45-04-57 W 
    Course In: N 89-55-03 W     Course Out: S 00-04-57 W 
    RP  North: 12927.966             East : 60871.719        
    End North: 12912.966             East : 60871.697        
Line  Course: N 89-55-03 W  Length: 45.95            
        North: 12913.032             East : 60825.747        
Curve  Length: 36.78                Radius: 200.00      
        Delta: 10-32-10            Tangent: 18.44            
        Chord: 36.73                Course: N 84-38-58 W 
    Course In: N 00-04-57 E     Course Out: S 10-37-07 W 
    RP  North: 13113.032             East : 60826.035        
    End North: 12916.457             East : 60789.181        
 
   Perimeter: 369.12   Area: 8,794 SF 0.202 ACRES 



page 10 
 

 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.005                Course: N 20-26-42 E 
  Error North: 0.0048                East : 0.0018           
Precision  1: 73,826.00        
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 210 
 
   North: 12958.856           East : 60936.759        
Line  Course: S 89-55-03 E  Length: 105.00           
        North: 12958.705             East : 61041.759        
Line  Course: S 00-04-57 W  Length: 85.00            
        North: 12873.705             East : 61041.637        
Line  Course: N 89-55-03 W  Length: 105.00           
        North: 12873.856             East : 60936.637        
Line  Course: N 00-04-57 E  Length: 85.00            
        North: 12958.856             East : 60936.759        
 
   Perimeter: 380.00   Area: 8,925 SF 0.205 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 380,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 211 
 
   North: 12873.856           East : 60936.637        
Line  Course: S 89-55-03 E  Length: 105.00           
        North: 12873.705             East : 61041.637        
Line  Course: S 00-04-57 W  Length: 77.50            
        North: 12796.205             East : 61041.525        
Line  Course: N 89-55-03 W  Length: 105.00           
        North: 12796.356             East : 60936.526        
Line  Course: N 00-04-57 E  Length: 77.50            
        North: 12873.856             East : 60936.637        
 
   Perimeter: 365.00   Area: 8,137 SF 0.187 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 365,000,000.00   
 
  



page 11 
 

Parcel name: LOT 212 
 
   North: 12796.356           East : 60936.526        
Line  Course: S 89-55-03 E  Length: 105.00           
        North: 12796.205             East : 61041.525        
Line  Course: S 00-04-57 W  Length: 82.50            
        North: 12713.705             East : 61041.407        
Line  Course: N 89-55-03 W  Length: 105.00           
        North: 12713.856             East : 60936.407        
Line  Course: N 00-04-57 E  Length: 82.50            
        North: 12796.356             East : 60936.526        
 
   Perimeter: 375.00   Area: 8,662 SF 0.199 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 375,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 213 
 
   North: 12732.940           East : 60886.434        
Line  Course: N 89-55-03 W  Length: 90.00            
        North: 12733.069             East : 60796.434        
Line  Course: N 00-04-57 E  Length: 131.69           
        North: 12864.759             East : 60796.624        
Curve  Length: 29.12                Radius: 250.00      
        Delta: 6-40-24             Tangent: 14.58            
        Chord: 29.10                Course: S 86-34-51 E 
    Course In: N 06-45-21 E     Course Out: S 00-04-57 W 
    RP  North: 13113.023             East : 60826.033        
    End North: 12863.023             East : 60825.674        
Line  Course: S 89-55-03 E  Length: 45.95            
        North: 12862.957             East : 60871.623        
Curve  Length: 23.56                Radius: 15.00       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.00            
        Chord: 21.21                Course: S 44-55-03 E 
    Course In: S 00-04-57 W     Course Out: S 89-55-03 E 
    RP  North: 12847.957             East : 60871.602        
    End North: 12847.936             East : 60886.602        
Line  Course: S 00-04-57 W  Length: 115.00           
        North: 12732.936             East : 60886.436        
 
   Perimeter: 435.32   Area: 11,668 SF 0.268 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: S 29-08-56 E 
  Error North: -0.0038               East : 0.0021           
Precision  1: 108,830.00       
 
  



page 12 
 

Parcel name: LOT 214 
 
   North: 12864.763           East : 60796.624        
Line  Course: S 00-04-57 W  Length: 131.69           
        North: 12733.073             East : 60796.434        
Line  Course: N 89-55-03 W  Length: 80.00            
        North: 12733.188             East : 60716.434        
Line  Course: N 64-18-51 W  Length: 37.87            
        North: 12749.602             East : 60682.306        
Line  Course: N 21-34-40 E  Length: 140.82           
        North: 12880.554             East : 60734.095        
Curve  Length: 64.67                Radius: 250.00      
        Delta: 14-49-19            Tangent: 32.52            
        Chord: 64.49                Course: S 75-49-59 E 
    Course In: N 21-34-40 E     Course Out: S 06-45-21 W 
    RP  North: 13113.033             East : 60826.036        
    End North: 12864.769             East : 60796.626        
 
   Perimeter: 455.06   Area: 12,584 SF 0.289 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.007                Course: N 21-01-42 E 
  Error North: 0.0065                East : 0.0025           
Precision  1: 65,007.14        
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 215 
 
   North: 12880.547           East : 60734.092        
Line  Course: S 21-34-40 W  Length: 140.82           
        North: 12749.596             East : 60682.304        
Line  Course: N 64-18-51 W  Length: 21.09            
        North: 12758.737             East : 60663.298        
Line  Course: N 48-05-38 W  Length: 88.63            
        North: 12817.934             East : 60597.336        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 123.55           
        North: 12911.794             East : 60677.678        
Curve  Length: 64.67                Radius: 250.00      
        Delta: 14-49-19            Tangent: 32.52            
        Chord: 64.49                Course: S 61-00-40 E 
    Course In: N 36-23-59 E     Course Out: S 21-34-40 W 
    RP  North: 13113.019             East : 60826.032        
    End North: 12880.539             East : 60734.091        
 
   Perimeter: 438.77   Area: 11,407 SF 0.262 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.009                Course: S 10-20-37 W 
  Error North: -0.0085               East : -0.0015          
Precision  1: 48,751.11        
 
  



page 13 
 

Parcel name: LOT 216 
 
   North: 12911.803           East : 60677.679        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 123.55           
        North: 12817.943             East : 60597.337        
Line  Course: N 48-05-38 W  Length: 75.02            
        North: 12868.050             East : 60541.504        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 121.14           
        North: 12960.079             East : 60620.279        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 56.85            
        North: 12923.110             East : 60663.468        
Curve  Length: 18.16                Radius: 250.00      
        Delta: 4-09-47             Tangent: 9.09             
        Chord: 18.16                Course: S 51-31-07 E 
    Course In: N 40-33-46 E     Course Out: S 36-23-59 W 
    RP  North: 13113.034             East : 60826.038        
    End North: 12911.810             East : 60677.684        
 
   Perimeter: 394.73   Area: 9,155 SF 0.210 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.008                Course: N 36-25-38 E 
  Error North: 0.0067                East : 0.0050           
Precision  1: 49,340.00        
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 217 
 
   North: 12960.073           East : 60620.273        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 121.14           
        North: 12868.044             East : 60541.498        
Line  Course: N 48-05-38 W  Length: 75.02            
        North: 12918.150             East : 60485.666        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 119.38           
        North: 13008.843             East : 60563.296        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 75.00            
        North: 12960.072             East : 60620.273        
 
   Perimeter: 390.53   Area: 9,019 SF 0.207 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.001                Course: S 14-39-46 W 
  Error North: -0.0014               East : -0.0004          
Precision  1: 390,540.00       
 
  



page 14 
 

Parcel name: LOT 218 
 
   North: 13008.844           East : 60563.296        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 119.38           
        North: 12918.152             East : 60485.666        
Line  Course: N 48-05-38 W  Length: 75.02            
        North: 12968.259             East : 60429.833        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 117.62           
        North: 13057.614             East : 60506.319        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 75.00            
        North: 13008.843             East : 60563.296        
 
   Perimeter: 387.02   Area: 8,887 SF 0.204 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.001                Course: S 14-39-46 W 
  Error North: -0.0014               East : -0.0004          
Precision  1: 387,020.00       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 219 
 
   North: 13057.615           East : 60506.319        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 117.62           
        North: 12968.260             East : 60429.833        
Line  Course: N 48-05-38 W  Length: 75.02            
        North: 13018.367             East : 60374.000        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 115.86           
        North: 13106.385             East : 60449.342        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 75.00            
        North: 13057.614             East : 60506.319        
 
   Perimeter: 383.50   Area: 8,755 SF 0.201 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.001                Course: S 14-39-46 W 
  Error North: -0.0014               East : -0.0004          
Precision  1: 383,500.00       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 220 
 
   North: 13106.386           East : 60449.342        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 115.86           
        North: 13018.368             East : 60374.001        
Line  Course: N 48-05-38 W  Length: 75.02            
        North: 13068.475             East : 60318.168        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 114.10           
        North: 13155.156             East : 60392.365        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 75.00            
        North: 13106.385             East : 60449.342        
 



page 15 
 

   Perimeter: 379.98   Area: 8,623 SF 0.198 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.001                Course: S 14-39-46 W 
  Error North: -0.0014               East : -0.0004          
Precision  1: 379,980.00       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 221 
 
   North: 13155.157           East : 60392.365        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 114.10           
        North: 13068.476             East : 60318.168        
Line  Course: N 48-05-38 W  Length: 75.02            
        North: 13118.583             East : 60262.335        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 112.34           
        North: 13203.927             East : 60335.388        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 75.00            
        North: 13155.156             East : 60392.365        
 
   Perimeter: 376.46   Area: 8,492 SF 0.195 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.001                Course: S 14-39-46 W 
  Error North: -0.0014               East : -0.0004          
Precision  1: 376,460.00       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 222 
 
   North: 13203.928           East : 60335.388        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 112.34           
        North: 13118.584             East : 60262.336        
Line  Course: N 48-05-38 W  Length: 78.05            
        North: 13170.715             East : 60204.248        
Curve  Length: 10.89                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 4-59-34             Tangent: 5.45             
        Chord: 10.89                Course: N 32-51-56 E 
    Course In: S 59-37-51 E     Course Out: N 54-38-17 W 
    RP  North: 13107.519             East : 60312.096        
    End North: 13179.861             East : 60210.157        
Curve  Length: 11.35                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 5-12-03             Tangent: 5.68             
        Chord: 11.34                Course: N 37-57-45 E 
    Course In: S 54-38-17 E     Course Out: N 49-26-14 W 
    RP  North: 13107.519             East : 60312.096        
    End North: 13188.804             East : 60217.134        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 73.39            
        North: 13244.558             East : 60264.858        
Curve  Length: 23.56                Radius: 15.00       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.00            
        Chord: 21.21                Course: N 85-33-46 E 



page 16 
 

    Course In: S 49-26-14 E     Course Out: N 40-33-46 E 
    RP  North: 13234.803             East : 60276.254        
    End North: 13246.199             East : 60286.008        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 65.00            
        North: 13203.931             East : 60335.388        
 
   Perimeter: 374.58   Area: 8,850 SF 0.203 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.002                Course: N 04-21-41 W 
  Error North: 0.0023                East : -0.0002          
Precision  1: 187,290.00       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 223 
 
   North: 13208.796           East : 60169.382        
Line  Course: N 49-26-14 W  Length: 135.88           
        North: 13297.156             East : 60066.155        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 85.00            
        North: 13361.730             East : 60121.428        
Line  Course: S 89-58-43 E  Length: 72.59            
        North: 13361.703             East : 60194.018        
Curve  Length: 86.32                Radius: 100.00      
        Delta: 49-27-31            Tangent: 46.06            
        Chord: 83.67                Course: N 65-17-32 E 
    Course In: N 00-01-17 E     Course Out: S 49-26-14 E 
    RP  North: 13461.703             East : 60194.056        
    End North: 13396.675             East : 60270.025        
Line  Course: N 40-33-46 E  Length: 39.55            
        North: 13426.721             East : 60295.744        
Line  Course: S 49-26-14 E  Length: 37.04            
        North: 13402.635             East : 60323.883        
Line  Course: S 33-03-46 W  Length: 42.95            
        North: 13366.639             East : 60300.451        
Curve  Length: 36.00                Radius: 275.00      
        Delta: 7-30-00             Tangent: 18.02            
        Chord: 35.97                Course: S 36-48-46 W 
    Course In: N 56-56-14 W     Course Out: S 49-26-14 E 
    RP  North: 13516.668             East : 60069.981        
    End North: 13337.840             East : 60278.897        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 153.39           
        North: 13221.311             East : 60179.150        
Curve  Length: 15.89                Radius: 175.00      
        Delta: 5-12-03             Tangent: 7.95             
        Chord: 15.88                Course: S 37-57-45 W 
    Course In: S 49-26-14 E     Course Out: N 54-38-17 W 
    RP  North: 13107.512             East : 60312.097        
    End North: 13208.791             East : 60169.382        
 
   Perimeter: 704.61   Area: 22,334 SF 0.513 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 



page 17 
 

Error Closure: 0.005                Course: S 02-29-27 E 
  Error North: -0.0048               East : 0.0002           
Precision  1: 140,922.00       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
  



page 18 
 

Parcel name: PARCEL C 
 
   North: 12713.705           East : 61041.407        
Line  Course: N 89-55-03 W  Length: 155.00           
        North: 12713.928             East : 60886.407        
Line  Course: N 00-04-57 E  Length: 19.01            
        North: 12732.938             East : 60886.434        
Line  Course: N 89-55-03 W  Length: 170.00           
        North: 12733.183             East : 60716.434        
Line  Course: N 64-18-51 W  Length: 58.96            
        North: 12758.738             East : 60663.300        
Line  Course: N 48-05-38 W  Length: 616.80           
        North: 13170.706             East : 60204.253        
Line  Course: N 59-37-51 W  Length: 50.00            
        North: 13195.985             East : 60161.114        
Curve  Length: 15.25                Radius: 175.00      
        Delta: 4-59-34             Tangent: 7.63             
        Chord: 15.24                Course: N 32-51-56 E 
    Course In: S 59-37-51 E     Course Out: N 54-38-17 W 
    RP  North: 13107.510             East : 60312.101        
    End North: 13208.790             East : 60169.387        
Line  Course: N 49-26-14 W  Length: 135.88           
        North: 13297.150             East : 60066.159        
Line  Course: S 40-33-46 W  Length: 130.75           
        North: 13197.820             East : 59981.135        
Curve  Length: 87.57                Radius: 50.00       
        Delta: 100-20-42           Tangent: 59.95            
        Chord: 76.80                Course: S 09-36-35 E 
    Course In: S 49-26-14 E     Course Out: S 30-13-04 W 
    RP  North: 13165.306             East : 60019.120        
    End North: 13122.100             East : 59993.955        
Line  Course: S 30-13-04 W  Length: 100.00           
        North: 13035.688             East : 59943.627        
Line  Course: S 65-50-29 W  Length: 224.78           
        North: 12943.694             East : 59738.534        
Curve  Length: 118.73               Radius: 1900.00     
        Delta: 3-34-49             Tangent: 59.38            
        Chord: 118.71               Course: S 25-56-56 E 
    Course In: N 65-50-29 E     Course Out: S 62-15-40 W 
    RP  North: 13721.295             East : 61472.124        
    End North: 12836.954             East : 59790.476        
Line  Course: N 62-15-39 E  Length: 50.00            
        North: 12860.226             East : 59834.730        
Curve  Length: 190.75               Radius: 1850.00     
        Delta: 5-54-28             Tangent: 95.46            
        Chord: 190.67               Course: S 30-41-34 E 
    Course In: N 62-15-40 E     Course Out: S 56-21-12 W 
    RP  North: 13721.295             East : 61472.124        
    End North: 12696.266             East : 59932.054        
Line  Course: S 33-38-48 E  Length: 266.50           
        North: 12474.413             East : 60079.714        
Line  Course: N 41-54-22 E  Length: 361.39           
        North: 12743.374             East : 60321.090        
Line  Course: S 48-05-38 E  Length: 100.00           



page 19 
 

        North: 12676.583             East : 60395.514        
Line  Course: S 47-34-46 E  Length: 62.86            
        North: 12634.180             East : 60441.919        
Curve  Length: 52.56                Radius: 55.00       
        Delta: 54-45-04            Tangent: 28.48            
        Chord: 50.58                Course: S 12-30-18 E 
    Course In: S 50-07-10 W     Course Out: S 75-07-46 E 
    RP  North: 12598.914             East : 60399.713        
    End North: 12584.799             East : 60452.870        
Line  Course: S 49-52-21 E  Length: 148.59           
        North: 12489.034             East : 60566.484        
Line  Course: S 70-45-36 E  Length: 70.62            
        North: 12465.763             East : 60633.160        
Line  Course: S 82-16-23 E  Length: 93.73            
        North: 12453.161             East : 60726.039        
Line  Course: S 89-55-03 E  Length: 210.00           
        North: 12452.859             East : 60936.039        
Line  Course: N 00-04-57 E  Length: 90.99            
        North: 12543.849             East : 60936.170        
Line  Course: S 89-55-03 E  Length: 105.00           
        North: 12543.697             East : 61041.169        
Line  Course: N 00-04-57 E  Length: 170.00           
        North: 12713.697             East : 61041.414        
 
   Perimeter: 3855.74   Area: 466,959 SF 10.720 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.011                Course: S 44-27-01 E 
  Error North: -0.0078               East : 0.0076           
Precision  1: 350,520.00       
 
 







Agenda Item # I.B.2 

Created on 2/27/19 Planning Commission Action Sheet 

Elko City Planning Commission 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible recommendation to City Council for 

Vacation No. 2-19, filed by Robert Morley of High Desert Engineering on behalf of 

Trinidy Jay Shippy and Kathryn Justine Shippy, for the vacation of a roadway and 

utility easement located along west property lines of APN 039-001-007, 008 & 009, 

consisting of an area approximately 26,225 sq. ft., and matters related thereto. FOR 

POSSIBLE ACTION 

 

2. Meeting Date:  March 5, 2019 

 

3. Agenda Category: NEW BUSINESS, MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS, PETITIONS, AND 

COMMUNICATIONS 
 

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

 

1. Background Information: January 19, 1978, an easement was granted to the City of 

Elko for a water line and roadway. This easement is outside the City of Elko 

incorporated boundaries but since the easement was granted to the City of Elko, it is 

within the jurisdiction of the City of Elko and not Elko County to vacate the easement. 

The property owner is proposing to relocate the water line in a new easement granted 

to the City of Elko. City Council accepted the petition February 26, 2019. CL 
5.  

6. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

 

7. Supplemental Agenda Information: Application, Staff Memo  

 

8. Recommended Motion: Forward a recommendation to City Council to adopt a 

resolution which conditionally approves Vacation No. 2-19 based on facts, findings 

and conditions as presented in the Staff Report dated February 26, 2019. 
 

9. Findings:  See Staff Report dated February 26, 2019. 

 

10. Prepared By: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 

 

11. Agenda Distribution:  Trinidy Jay Shippy and Kathryn Justine Shippy 

2135 Industrial Way 

Elko, NV 89801 
 

High Desert Engineering 

Robert Morley 

640 Idaho Street 

Elko, NV 89801 

 

 
  





Page 1 of 5

CITY OF ELKO STAFF REPORT

DATE: February 26, 2019
PLANNING COMMISSION DATE: March 5, 2019
APPLICATION NUMBER: Vacation 2-19
APPLICANT: Trinidy J. Shipping and Kathryn J. Shippy
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: APN 039-001-007 thru 039-001-009

Vacation of an existing utility and access easement along the west property line abutting all
three parcels. In conjunction with a relocation of a water line and a dedication of a new
water line easement.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

RECOMMEND to APPROVE subject to findings of fact and conditions as presented in this
report.

City of Elko
1751 College Avenue

Elko, NV  89801
(775) 777-7160

FAX (775) 777-7119



VACATION 2-19
Shippy
APN: 039-001-007

Page 2 of 5

PROJECT INFORMATION

PARCEL NUMBER: 039-001-007, 008 & 009

EXISTING ZONING: Elko County Property

MASTER PLAN DESIGNATION: Elko County Property

EXISTING LAND USE: Developed, Industrial

BACKGROUND:
1. The property has been developed as industrial land use.
2. The property is located in the county and not within city limits.
3. The easement continues to the north through parcel APN 039-001-002 and that portion of

the easement will remain.
4. The easement was granted to the City of Elko on January 19, 1978 to construct,

reconstruct, repair, operate and maintain an alley, street or roadway for right-of-way
purposes and water line or distribution system.

5. The property owner is proposing to relocate the existing water line into a new easement
granted to the City of Elko along the northerly property line of APN 039-001-007.

NEIGHBORHOOD CHARACTERISTICS:
The property is surrounded by:
North: Elko County (Industrial land use) / Developed
East: Elko County (Industrial land use) / Developed
South: Elko County (Industrial land use) / Developed
West: RMH / Developed

PROPERTY CHARACTERISTICS:
The property is currently developed.
There is a city of Elko water line within the existing easement.
It does not appear that there are any other utilities located in the easement.

MASTER PLAN AND CITY CODES:
Applicable Master Plans and City Code Sections are:

NRS 278.479 to 278.480, inclusive
City of Elko Master Plan – Land Use Component
City of Elko Master Plan – Transportation Component
City of Elko Redevelopment Plan
City of Elko Code – Section 8-7 Street Vacation Procedures

NRS 278.479 to 278.480 inclusive

1. 278.480(4) If any right-of-way or easement required for a public purpose that is owned
by a city or a county is proposed to be vacated, the governing body, or the planning
commission, hearing examiner or other designee, if authorized to take final action by the



VACATION 2-19
Shippy
APN: 039-001-007

Page 3 of 5

governing body, shall, not less than 10 business days before the public hearing described
in subsection 5.

2. NRS 278.480 (5) Except as otherwise provided in subsection 6, if, upon public hearing,
the governing body, or the planning commission, hearing examiner or other designee, if
authorized to take final action by the governing body, is satisfied that the public will not
be materially injured by the proposed vacation, it shall order the street or easement
vacated. The governing body, or the planning commission, hearing examiner or other
designee, if authorized to take final action by the governing body, may make the order
conditional, and the order becomes effective only upon the fulfillment of the conditions
prescribed. An applicant or other person aggrieved by the decision of the planning
commission, hearing examiner or other designee may appeal the decision in accordance
with the ordinance adopted pursuant to NRS 278.31895.

3. Per NRS 278.480(6) Public utility companies have been notified of the vacation on
February 12, 2019.

4. The utilities located within the area are proposed to be relocated with a new water line
easement being granted to the City of Elko.

MASTER PLAN – Land Use:

1. The Master Plan Land Use Atlas shows the area as Industrial General.
2. The property is located outside City of Elko incorporated boundary.

The proposed vacation is in conformance with the Master Plan Land Use component.

MASTER PLAN - Transportation:

1. The area is accessed from Industrial Way.
2. Industrial Way is an Elko County maintained roadway.

The Master Plan Transportation component is not applicable as the property is located in Elko
County.

REDEVELOPMENT PLAN

 The area is located outside the Redevelopment Area.

ELKO CITY CODE SECTION 8-7 STREET VACATION PROCEDURES

1. If it is determined by a majority vote of the city council that it is in the best interest of the
city and that no person will be materially injured thereby, the city council, by motion,
may propose the realignment, change, vacation, adjustment or abandonment of any street
or any portion thereof. In addition, any abutting owner desiring the vacation of any street
or easement or portion thereof shall file a petition in writing with the city council and the
city council shall consider said petition as set forth above.

 The City Council accepted the petition at their meeting on February 26, 2019 and
referred the matter to the Planning Commission for further consideration.

2. Except for a petition for the vacation or abandonment of an easement for a public utility
owned or controlled by the city, the petition or motion shall be referred to the planning
commission, which shall report its findings and recommendations thereon to the city



VACATION 2-19
Shippy
APN: 039-001-007

Page 4 of 5

council. The petitioner shall, prior to the consideration of the petition by the planning
commission, pay a filing fee to the city in an amount established by resolution of the city
council and included in the appendix to this code.

 The filing fee was paid by the applicant.

3. Whenever any street, easement or portion thereof is proposed to be vacated or
abandoned, the city council shall notify by certified mail each owner of property abutting
the proposed vacation or abandonment and cause a notice to be published at least once in
a newspaper of general circulation in the city setting forth the extent of the proposed
vacation or abandonment and setting a date for public hearing, which date may be not
less than ten (10) days and not more than forty (40) days subsequent to the date the notice
is first published.

4. Order of City Council: Except as provided in subsection E of this section, if, upon public
hearing, the City Council is satisfied that the public will not be materially injured by the
proposed vacation or abandonment, and that it is in the best interest of the city, it shall
order the street vacated or abandoned. The city council may make the order conditional,
and the order shall become effective only upon the fulfillment of the conditions
prescribed.

Elko County Planning Department has been notified of the proposed vacation and they have
responded with a letter of support.

The proposed vacation with the recommended conditions is in conformance with Section 8-7 of
City code.

FINDINGS

1. The proposed vacation is in conformance with NRS 278.479 to 278.480, inclusive.

2. The proposed vacation is in conformance with the City of Elko Master Plan Land Use
component

3. The proposed vacation is in conformance with the City of Elko Master Plan
Transportation component.

4. The easement proposed for vacation is not located within the Redevelopment Area.

5. The proposed vacation with the recommended conditions is in conformance with Section
8-7 of City Code.

6. The proposed vacation will not materially injure the public and is in the best interest of
the City.

7. Elko County has provided a letter in support of the proposed vacation.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:



VACATION 2-19
Shippy
APN: 039-001-007

Page 5 of 5

Staff recommends forward a recommendation to City Council to adopt a resolution which
conditionally APPROVES the proposed vacation with the following conditions:

1. The applicant is responsible for all costs associated with the recordation of the vacation.

2. Written response from all non-City utilities is on file with the City of Elko with regard to
the vacation in accordance with NRS 278.480(6) before the order is recorded.

Engineering Department

1. The granting of the new easement shall be recorded prior to the recording of the
resolution vacating this existing easement.

2. The new water line shall be constructed and the old water line abandoned in place, prior
to the vacation of the easement.

Utility Department

1. Submit construction drawings for approval by City showing new water main and
abandonment of old.

2. Gate over existing easement
3. New water infrastructure is accepted prior to easement vacation.











































Agenda Item # I.B.3 

Created on 2/15/2019  Planning Commission Action Sheet 

Elko City Planning Commission 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible action to initiate an amendment to the 

City of Elko Master Plan, specifically Atlas Map 12 and the Transportation 

component, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

 

2. Meeting Date: March 5, 2019 

 

3. Agenda Category: MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS, PETITIONS, AND COMMUNICATIONS 

 

4. Time Required: 10 Minutes 

 

5. Background Information:  

 

6. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

 

7. Supplemental Agenda Information: 

 

8. Recommended Motion: Move to initiate an amendment to the City of Elko Master 

Plan Future Transportation Atlas Map 12 and Transportation Component and 

direct staff to bring the item back as a resolution and public hearing. 
 

9. Prepared By: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 

 

10. Agenda Distribution:  



__________________________________________________________________________ Transportation 

 

 Transportation page 8

 

� Country Club Drive 
� Court Street, Oak Street to 5th Street and 9th Street to 14th Street 
� Delaware Street, between Statice Street and Paradise Drive  
� El Armuth Drive (Mountain City Highway to Sagecrest Dr. & Celtic 

Way to Hondo Lane) 
� Enfield Avenue 
� Fairway Drive, between Skyline Drive and Keppler Drive 
� Forest Lane, between Montrose Lane and Enfield Avenue 
� Garcia Lane – South 11th Street 
� Highland Drive 
� Indian View Heights Drive 
� Jennings Way, south of Mountain City Highway 
� Keppler Drive  
� La Nae Drive, between Bluffs Avenue and Cottonwood Drive 
� Mittry Avenue (Chris Ave to College Parkway) 
� Montrose Lane 
� Opal Drive 
� Rocky Road (future) 
� Ruby View Drive 
� Sagecrest Drive 
� Sewell Drive 
� Spruce Road, between 5th Street and -Jennings Way 
� Stitzel Road, between Pinion Road and Liberty Drive 
� Sundance Drive 

 
 
Regional Roadways 
 
Regional Roadways are those collector or arterial streets 
characterized by moderate to high traffic volumes with significant 
traffic origins or traffic destinations outside of the corporate 
boundaries of the City of Elko. The following are considered 
Regional Roadways: 
 

� Jennings Way Loop 
� 5th Street 
� Ruby Vista Drive, east of Jennings Way 
� Delaware Street 
� Idaho Street 
� Silver Street  
� Manzanita Lane 
� 12th Street, south of Idaho Street 
� Last Chance Road 
� Bullion Road, west of Errecart Boulevard 
� Errecart Boulevard 
 
* Note that the Elko City Council approved the above list of Regional 
Roads; however, at this time Manzanita Lane and Last Chance Road are 
not recognized by the RTC as regional roads. 

Roadway Capacity 

Level of service (LOS) is a term used to measure and describe the 
operational conditions of a roadway network.  Letters A through F are 
used to measure the LOS of a roadway segment or intersection.  The 
following definitions are given for each level of service letter. 








































